APPLYING A COMMUNITY CAPITALS FRAMEWORK TO COMPARE RURAL, FARMING-DEPENDENT COUNTIES IN OKLAHOMA

By

RAQUEL TAYLOR

Bachelor of Science in Agricultural Education

Utah State University

Logan, Utah

2017

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE July, 2021

APPLYING A COMMUNITY CAPITALS FRAMEWORK TO COMPARE RURAL, FARMING-DEPENDENT COUNTIES IN OKLAHOMA

Thesis Approved:

Shane Robinson

Thesis Adviser

Tyson E. Ochsner

Robert Terry, Jr.

Brian E. Whitacre

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to acknowledge my family and the value of education they instilled in me from a young age. I would not have the ability to accomplish academic goals without their continued love and support.

I know this study would not be completed without the dedication of fantastic advisors and mentors within my committee. I am continually amazed at their willingness to help students such as myself succeed.

Name: RAQUEL TAYLOR

Date of Degree: JULY, 2021

Title of Study: APPLYING A COMMUNITY CAPITALS FRAMEWORK TO COMPARE RURAL, FARMING-DEPENDENT COUNTIES IN OKLAHOMA

Major Field: AGRICULTURAL EDUCATION

Abstract: Many rural communities are declining due to compounding factors. The loss of rural communities would result in the loss of American culture and essential agricultural production. This study aims to identify resources present in two rural counties in Southwest Oklahoma, Harmon and Tillman, through a comparison eight other rural, farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma. Resources present in these counties were identified as various capitals using a Community Capitals Framework. Selected indicators were measured across all seven community capitals using established databases and secondary data. This study found Harmon and Tillman Counties to possess all capital types at varying levels. The capitals identified range in presence in the ten farming-dependent counties and were found to impact each another. It was concluded that Harmon and Tillman Counties ranked above all other counties regarding assets revealed through the community capitals framework. Therefore, hope exists for renewal potential in these two counties, and the other farming-dependent counties featured in the study, based on the various availability of assets.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter Pa	ge
I. INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of Problem	5
Purpose of Study	5
Research Objectives	5
Definition of Terms	6
Limitations of the Study	7
Assumptions of the Study	8
Chapter Summary	8
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	9
Introduction	0
Rural Context	9
Farming-Dependent Counties	2
Harmon and Tillman Counties	3
Community Capitals Framework	5
Built Capital	8
Natural Capital	9
Financial Capital	1
Human Capital	2
Social Capital	4
Bonding Social Capital24	4
Bridging Social Capital2	5
Political Capital2	6
Cultural Capital	7
Rural Renewal Initiative	9
Chapter Summary	0
III. METHODOLOGY	1
Research Design	2

Chapter

Page

	Comparison County Selection Process	32
	Data Gathering	35
	Built Capital Observed Indicators	36
	Financial Capital Observed Indicators	36
	Natural Capital Observed Indicators	37
	Human Capital Observed Indicators	38
	Social Capital Observed Indicators	38
	Political Capital Observed Indicators	39
	Cultural Capital Observed Indicators	40
	Community Capital Data Sources	41
	Built Capital Data Sources	41
	Financial Capital Data Sources	42
	Natural Capital Data Sources	43
	Human Capital Data Sources	44
	Social Capital Data Sources	44
	Political Capital Data Sources	45
	Cultural Capital Data Sources	45
	Data Analysis	47
IV.	FINDINGS	50
	Individual Capital Findings and Scaling	50
	Built Capital	50
	Financial Capital	53
	Natural Capital	55
	Human Capital	57
	Social Capital	60
	Political Capital	61
	Cultural Capital	62
	Overall Capital Findings	64
V.	CONCLUSION, IMPLICATIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS	68
	Built Capital	69
	Financial Capital	70
	Natural Capital	71
	Human Capital	72
	Social Capital	73
	Political Capital	73
	Cultural Capital	73
	Recommendations for Practice	74
	Recommendations for Research	76
RE	FERENCES	79

LIST OF TABLES

Table

Page

1. Land Area in Square Miles of Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma
2. Population Estimates 2019
5. Whes of Highway Available in Selected Kurai, Fairing-dependent Counties in Oklahoma
4 Total Homes Owner-Occupied in Rural Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma
4. Total Homes Owner-Occupied in Rural, Farming-dependent Countes in Oktanoma 52
5. Internet Subscription and Broadband Availability in Rural. Farming-dependent
Counties in Oklahoma
6. Poverty Status in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma
7. Mean Annual Income of Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma54
8. Income and Tax Items in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma55
9. Percentage of Water Avaliablity through Rainfall, Water Area, and Irrigation in
Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma56
10. Percentage of the Population's Education Attainment- High School Diploma or
Equivelent and Associate Degree or some College Per Capita in Rural, Farming-
dependent Counties in Oklahoma
11. Percentage of Population's Education Attainment- Bachelor's Degree and Graduate
or Professional Degree Per Capita in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in
Oklahoma
12. Percentage of Medically Unisured Civilian Noninstitutionalized Population in
Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma
13. Labor Force Participation Rate Per Capita in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in
Oklanoma
15. Deputation Political Capitals in Pural Forming dependent Counties in Oklahoma
15. Population Pointeal Capitais in Kurai, Farming-dependent Counties in Oktanonia 61
16 Language Spoken for Population 5 Years and Older in Rural Farming-dependent
Counties in Oklahoma
17 General Variance of Race and Ethnicity in in Rural Farming-dependent Counties in
Oklahoma
18. Percent Family Households in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma
19. Averaged Scaled and Ranked Community Capitals in Rural, Farming-dependent
Counties in Oklahoma

Table

20.	Overall Community	Capitals in Rural,	Farming-dependent	Counties in	Oklahoma
					67

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1. Farming-Dependent Counties, 2015 edition	13
2. Community Capitals Framework	17
3. Rural, Farming-Dependent Oklahoma Counties	33

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Rural life is often portrayed as picturesque, full of traditional values and happy, thriving communities (Shucksmith, 2018). However, this lifestyle and the communities in rural areas are on the decline in various parts of the U.S due to compounding factors such as a decreasing population, shift in agrarian economic structure, decaying infrastructure, and decreasing income (Filkins et al., 2000; Luloff & Swanson, 1990; Nelson et al., 2021; Tweten, 2008; Walzer, 1991; Wilkinson, 1991). Rural communities are also in decline across much of the globe as urbanization and industrial development increase (Lui & Li, 2017; Li et al., 2019). Rural communities have experienced declines in employment, economic vitality, and overall quality of life in recent years (Carr & Kefalas, 2009; Li et al., 2019; Nelson et al., 2021). Differences in standards of living between rural and urban areas have been suggested as one critical factor impacting the decline of rural communities (Li et al., 2019; Young, 2013). Not every person desires to live in rural places; however, those who do contribute essential aspects of American culture (Theodori & Willits, 2018), and provide essential agricultural products to the world (QutbAldeen, 2020), and thus rural communities need to be preserved. Rural counties face an array of different challenges when compared to urban or urban adjacent counties (Cromartie et al., 2011). Inequalities related to

food, education, and employment access are prevalent in numerous rural communities in the U.S. (Moore, 2016). In addition, a clear divide exists across urban and rural healthcare domains where rural areas are falling noticeably short regarding healthcare services when compared to their urban counterparts (Anderson et al., 2015).

Access to reliable and sufficient broadband internet is a necessity to the social and economic wellbeing of rural citizens (Schmidt & Severson, 2021); yet, less than 70% of rural communities across the U.S. have access to high-speed internet (Tomer et al., 2017). Because of such deficiencies, outmigration is a persistent challenge that impacts rural America. When rural citizens migrate from rural to urban communities, it can leave rural communities vulnerable to severe physical decline and long-lasting economic recessions (Amcoff & Westholm, 2007; Luck et al., 2011; Li et al., 2019).

The trend toward urbanization has depleted the rural workforce, which has expedited the economic degradation of rural communities (Rignall & Atia, 2017). This outmigration has left some rural areas poverty stricken due to a lack of employment opportunities for the citizens who live there (Moore, 2016). What is more, as the population in these areas decreases, many rural communities face blight from decaying, dilapidated infrastructure, such as buildings and homes (Morton et al., 2004). The deterioration of such structures not only serve as an eye-sore to the community but can also lead to environmental problems, which can have a negative effect on a community's social and economic system (QutbAldeen, 2020) and overall assets, or capitals (Li et al., 2019). Such deficits leave rural communities faced with and forced to respond to various environmental, social, and economic problems (Flora et al., 2016), which they are often ill equipped to address.

Fortunately, county organizational structural, such as local county government organizations, enables special services and resources to be provided to residents residing inside county limits of rural communities (National Association of Counties, 2019). Counties are defined as metropolitan (metro) and non-metropolitan (nonmetro) (Office of Management and Budget, 2010). Metro counties have one or more urbanized area(s) with a core population of 50,000 or more people, whereas nonmetro counties have a population of less than 50,000 citizens (Office of Management and Budget, 2010). In this study, *nonmetro* counties are referred to as rural counties, and *metro* counties are referred to as urban counties.

The Economic Research Service (2018) reports, approximately 20% of rural counties are farming-dependent counties. To be classified as a farming-dependent county, 25% or more of the county's earnings, or 16% or more of the employment averaged over 2010 to 2012, must be from farming enterprises (Economic Research Service, 2017). Over time, there has been a decline in farming-dependent counties in the U.S. (Jackson-Smith & Jensen, 2009; Kassel & Carlin, 1999); this reduction of the share of income from farming impacts federal farm and rural development projects and objectives (Dimitri et al., 2005; Whitener, 2005). Within farming-dependent counties, farming payments and business ventures have the most significant impacts within the rural economy (Drabenstott, 2015).

Additionally, farming-dependent communities face challenges in relation to population decline, income, and employment (Jackson-Smith & Jensen, 2009; Kassel & Carlin, 1999). Population loss due to outmigration from off farm job opportunities and farm consolidation has a negative impact on farming enterprises and government subsidies, which in turn, can affect rural farming-dependent counties by limiting profit opportunities (Ahearn et al., 1988; Chowdhury, 2008; McGranahan & Ghelfi, 2004). In fact, economic growth within a county can be hindered by a high farm dependency due to trends that are impacting agriculture within rural America (Deller et al., 2003). Farming-dependent counties' economies and social structures are affected by changes made in the agriculture/farm sector (Ahearn et al., 1988) through government policies and rural economic restructuring (Jackson-Smith & Jensen, 2009). Changes in the various sectors

of the agricultural industry can be related to laws and regulations, compliance monitoring and assistance, and policies and guidance determined by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, U.S. Department of Agriculture, and the U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Labor scarcity in the farming sector impacts a farm's ability to produce products and be profitable leading to higher cost of products at retail (Devadoss & Luckstead, 2011).

In the state of Oklahoma, 1.3 million of the state's 4 million residents are rural citizens (Economic Research Service, 2021a). Of Oklahoma's 77 counties, 59 are classified as rural counities (Economic Research Service, 2017). Oklahoma has 10 rural counties that are solely farming-dependent (Economic Research Service, 2017). Urban counties such as Tulsa, Oklahoma, Cleveland, and Canadian, have experienced 8% to 28.3% population growth during 2010-2019 while rural counties such as Okfuskee, Harmon, Adair, Hughes and Tillman, have experienced -1.6% to -9.3% population decline during the same decade (Economic Research Service, 2020). Per-capita income for people in rural Oklahoma counties income is approximately \$10,000 less per year than their urban counterparts (Economic Research Service, 2021a). Unemployment rates in 2019 were lower in urban Oklahoma than rural Oklahoma, according to the Economic Research Service (2021a), and poverty rates are higher in rural counties (17.6%) than in urban counties (13.8%). When compared to their urban counterparts, Oklahoma rural counties have a higher completion rate of youth who graduate high school, but they fall short of urban counties when comparing college completion rates (Economic Research Service, 2021a). As a result of higher unemployment rates, poverty, and lower income levels, rural Oklahoma counties have experienced a decline in population when compared to urban counties the past decade (Economic Research Service, 2021a).

The USDA Economic Research Service created County Typology Codes from data emanating from the Bureau of Economic Analysis and the U.S. Census Bureau (Economic Research Service, 2017). These typography codes identified five areas for which counties could be deemed deficient: low education, low employment, population loss, persistent poverty, and persistent related child poverty (Economic Research Service, 2017). Thirty-eight counties across the U.S. were low in all five of those areas, two of which were in Oklahoma: Harmon and Tillman.

Statement of the Problem

Harmon and Tillman Counties are the only two counties in Oklahoma to be deficient in all five Economic Research Service (ERS) Typology Codes. However, it is possible both counties likely include important assets necessary for improving their own situations. It is also possible these counties are unaware they possess the necessary resources for improving their own communities' status. Highlighting the deficits as well as the resources and assets of these communities could provide the encouragement needed to accentuate the opportunities and reverse the trends that have long plagued these two communities. Understanding how these two target counties compare to others in the state similar to them regarding capital assets and needs can help residents consider ways to reverse the downward spiral of their communities. Bringing these comparison data to light might help such communities recognize and use their existing assets to make the necessary changes for developing a stronger, more vibrant, and renewed community.

Purpose of Study

The purpose of the study was to compare the community capitals of two rural counties in Southwest Oklahoma (i.e., Harmon and Tillman) to all rural, farming-dependent counties in the state on metrics related to education, employment, population loss, persistent poverty, and persistent child poverty.

Research Objectives

The following research objectives guided the investigation:

- Determine the community capitals present in rural, farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma.
- 2. Compare the community capitals present in Harmon and Tillman Counties to other, rural, farming-dependent counties using the Economic Research Service Typology Codes.

Definition of Terms

Listed below or operational definitions of terms referred to in this study:

Asset: tangible or intangible items retained to build on to sustain future development (McKnight, 1996).

Capital: a resource invested to create new resources (Flora et al., 2016).

Community: a location where people share common interest and sense of identity together (Flora et al., 2016).

Community Assets: tangible or intangible items retained to build on to sustain future community development.

Community Capital: a resource invested to create a new resource within a community (Flora et al., 2016).

Community Development: efforts to enhance the overall structure that defines a community (Tweten, 2008).

Community Shocks: sudden event that has a significant impact on a community (Besser et al., 2008).

Community Trends: general direction or trajectory within a community.

Community Vulnerability: circumstances that arise from social, natural, physical, and economic factors (Morrow, 1999).

Farming-dependent Counties: counties in which 25% or more of the county's earnings, or 16% or more of the employment averaged over 2010 to 2012, must be from farming enterprises (Economic Research Service, 2017).

Non-metropolitan Counties: counties that do not a have one or more urbanized area with a core population of 50,000 or more people.

Outmigration: leaving a community to settle in another location (Jacquet et al., 2016).

Poverty: the total income a family generates is less than its threshold (U.S. Census Bureau, n.d.)

Rural: less dense, dispersed, population an area, territory, population, or housing (Ratcliffe, 2010; Ratcliffe et al., 2016).

Rural Counties: non-metropolitan counties.

Sustainable Communities: communities that strive to have economic security, strong ecosystems and social inclusion for members (Flora et al., 2016).

Urban: incorporated cities or towns consisting of at least 2,500 people (U.S. Census, 2016).

Limitations of the Study

This study focused primarily on the use of secondary data. As a result, we were limited in the data we could analyze. Further, secondary data are a limitation to any study because they can be incomplete and have items missing from the data set. Nonsampling error can also occur in secondary data, which further limits the study's findings. Another limitation is capitals were determined in quantitative terms, and qualitative measures from within the community would show how community members perceived the capitals present in their county. This is a study on

specific rural counties in southwest Oklahoma. As such, the data from this study cannot be generalized to all rural counties. Therefore, the reader is cautioned about applying to findings of this study to other rural counties and communities.

Assumptions of the Study

- Harmon and Tillman Counties have access to various community capitals. Some capitals will appear in higher amounts than other capitals.
- 2. The websites used to retrieve data for these two communities are up-to-date, current, and accurate.

Chapter Summary

There are a variety of challenges that face rural communities across the U.S. These same challenges exist in rural Oklahoma, especially Harmon and Tillman Counties, as these are two of the poorest counties with the greatest population declines in the state. A comparison of Harmon and Tillman Counties to other similar, rural, farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma will provide insight to civic leaders and researchers as they seek to reverse the downward spiral trajectory and increase the viability of these two target communities.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Introduction

Research on community capitals is a broad line of inquiry. This study aims to determine the community capitals present Harmon and Tillman Counties and compare them to all other rural, farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma using the Economic Research Service Typology Codes. The literature was analyzed to understand current trends with rural communities and the Community Capitals Framework (CCF). The review of literature will describe previous relevant research to provide a more in-depth view of the CCF in action. Research of relevant literature will allow gaps to be identified and present the current state of rural communities, their trends, strengths and weaknesses, and the role of community capitals. Individual capitals are described that compose the CCF individually to provide a better understanding of the framework.

Rural Context

One in five Americans lives in areas classified as rural, according to the U.S. Census (2016). The U.S. Census (2016) reported the urban population has increased over the past century, and the cities are expanding. According to the U.S. Census (2016), the percentage of

Americans living in rural areas declined from 54.4 percent in 1910 to 19.3 percent in 2010. A decrease in the worldwide rural population percentage has left rural communities with limited job opportunities, modern conveniences, and loss of a lifestyle (de Guzman, 2010; Nelson et al., 2021).

Rural communities often have more traditional norms and conservative values when compared to their urban counterparts (Monier, 2011; Parker et al., 2018). Flora et al. (2019) and Brown and Kandel (2006) depicted the following as often observed American rural values: rural people are hardworking, religious and God-fearing, honest and law-abiding citizens, democratic, and patriotic. Rural citizens face isolation (Lowe, 2013), but these same communities have developed innovative approaches for overcoming social and cultural isolation through communication and other technological advances (Monier, 2011). Rural populations are aging due to outmigration of younger generations and the relocation of older generations to rural areas, particularly those with high natural amenities and attractions (Glasgow & Brown, 2012). Consequently, rural areas tend to have high a population of older residents aged 60 and older (Glasgow & Brown, 2012; Yarker et al., 2020).

Rural areas historically have had a varied demographic (Brown & Schafft, 2011), being home to racial minorities that are often ignored by mainstream America due to the spatial segregation of settlements (Lichter, 2012). As such, ethnic diversity is present in rural communities (Lee & Sharp, 2017). In recent decades there has been a movement of Hispanics, the largest minority group across the U.S., into small, rural communities (Jensen, 2006; Kandel & Cromartie, 2004; Lichter & Johnson, 2006). Lichter (2012) stated, "growing racial and ethnic diversity has a demographic and economic grip on rural American, now and into the foreseeable future" (p. 2). Due to the racial and ethnic diversity present within communities, the culture of these places will lead to a shift in the norms and values, thus, reshaping the cultural capital of rural communities (Lichter, 2012; Tienda & Mitchell, 2006).

What is more, numerous rural areas are encountering the brain drain phenomenon due to the high rates of outmigration of their youth (Hastings et al., 2011). This phenomenon occurs when young working-age people leave rural areas in search for better employment opportunities (Carr & Kefalas, 2009; de Guzman, 2020; Mayer et al., 2017; Moore, 2016; Petrin, 2014; Sherman & Sage, 2011). For decades, outmigration from rural areas has been primarily due to employment opportunities found outside of rural areas (Jacquet et al., 2016; Malanski et al., 2021). In the past decade, over 20% of rural counties across the U.S. have experienced a decrease in population due to the outmigration of youth and young adults ages 15 to 29 (Smith et al., 2016). This decrease in population leads to various economic stressors in the community, which can impact housing conditions in rural areas resulting in blight, vacancy, and dilapidation (Skobba et al., 2019). Therefore, efforts should be devoted to preventing the brain drain phenomenon from (re)occurring. One way is to involve these youth in civic engagement activities to help them feel a stronger connection to their community and increase their desire to remain in or return to their communities long-term (Mohamed & Wheeler, 2001).

In addition, technical advancements have contributed to the loss of employment opportunities, which have led to the uprooting of traditional rural livelihoods, especially in the natural resources sector (Mayer et al., 2017). Agricultural production endeavors positively affect a community by supporting its rural economies (Burton & Wilson, 2006; Stock & Forney, 2014; Suryanata et al., 2020). However, recent scientific and technological advances in agriculture, such as modernized implements and improved chemicals, have decreased various economic and laborbased job opportunities in rural communities (Bhandari & Ghimire, 2016). Simply put, rural areas provide fewer agricultural employment opportunities than in previous decades, and those rural areas that primarily rely on natural resources industries have witnessed the steepest declines in population in recent years (Kindell, 2009).

Jacquet et al. (2016) reported rural citizens in South Dakota are more dissatisfied with their communities than their urban neighbors; however, they also are more likely to express attachment to their community. Rural areas are described as Gemeinschaft communities – meaning these communities have close personal ties and relationships (Belanche et al., 2021; Christenson, 1984; Flora et al., 2016). Rural communities allow for the cultivation of familiarity and community involvement due to their more frequent social interactions and direct relationships with their neighbors (Belanche et al., 2021; McNight et al., 2017). Rural citizens tend to develop a closer bond with and in their community, and they can have a higher level of community pride when compared to citizens living in urban areas (Belanche et al., 2021; Edwards, 2012; Sanders et al., 2015). These strong social bonds that are present in rural communities (Melbourne & Kitchen, 2014) often lead to community development efforts (Belanche et al., 2021; Zissi et al., 2010). As outmigration occurs, communities lose these social bonds and their agrarian values (Theodori & Willits, 2018).

Farming-Dependent Counties

The ERS Typology codes were developed to be used as a tool to analyze rural conditions, trends, and program needs of rural counties (Economic Research Service, 2019). Farming-dependency is determined through two measurements: (a) annual farm earning in counties account for 25% or (b) more of earnings or 16% or more of employment from farming enterprises averaged over 2010 to 2012 (Economic Research Service, 2017). In the U.S. has 444 farm dependent counties, 391 of those counties are rural (Economic Research Service, 2017). These counties are depicted in Figure 1. Decline in farming enterprises and employment (Jackson-Smith & Jensen, 2009) and farm consolidation (Chowdhury, 2008) can affect these counties abilities to sustain economic growth (Deller et al., 2003).

Figure 1



Farming-Dependent Counties, 2015 edition (Economic Research Service, 2019)

Jackson-Smith and Jensen (2009) determined there is still hope in the vitality of farmingdependent counties through the measurement and research of all agro-food systems and levels of agricultural activity. The farming enterprise and contribution of farming-dependent counties contributes to the national economy though income, gross domestic product, and employment (Salsgiver & Hines, 1993).

Harmon and Tillman Counties

Located in the extreme southwest corner of Oklahoma, Harmon and Tillman Counties, have faced a myriad of recent challenges. These farming-dependent counties have struggled to maintain a healthy population, infrastructure, employment sector, and other amenities that make small towns and communities viable and attractive (Economic Research Service, 2017). According to the 2020 U.S. Census Bureau on April 1, 2010, the population of Harmon County was 2,922. On July 1, 2019, less than a decade later, the county's population had been reduced to 2,653 residents, resulting in a population loss of 9.2% (U.S. Census, 2019c). During the same time frame (April 1, 2010, to July 1, 2019), Tillman County's population declined from 7,992 to 7,250 resulting in a population loss of 9.3% (U.S. Census, 2019c). Such declines over a short amount of time make it difficult to sustain energy and momentum for small towns, especially when this loss is due to younger people leaving in search of better opportunities (Hastings et al., 2011; Mayer et al., 2017).

When considering factors such as gross domestic product (GDP), Harmon County was ranked last (77th out of 77 counties in Oklahoma) with the lowest GDP of \$100 million, while Tillman County was ranked 68th (out of 77) with a GDP of \$221 million the same year (Bureau of Economic Analysis, 2020). In addition to low GDP and population loss, both Harmon and Tillman Counties fell into the category of persistent poverty (Economic Research Service, 2017). To qualify for the USDA's persistent poverty classification: 20% or more of the county's population must be living in poverty based on the 1980, 1990, and 2000 decennial censuses and the 2007-20 ACS 5-year estimate. In total, 353 counties across the U.S. comprise the persistent poverty category (ERS, 2017). More than 11% of all American counties are classified as being persistently poor, and 15.2% of rural counties are classified as being persistently poor (Economic Research Service, 2017). Harmon and Tillman Counties are also both listed in the persistent child poverty category. According to the decennial census dating back to 1980, 20% or more of children under age 18 years old, are considered poor. Specifically, in 2019, it was estimated 23.7% of all residents in Harmon County and 20.4% of all residents in Tillman County, were living in poverty (Economic Research Service, 2021).

The USDA ERS coded data collected from the Bureau of Economic Analysis and the U.S. Census Bureau to create the 2015 ERS County Codes Update, which was revised in 2017. Not only are Harmon and Tillman Counties coded as farming-dependent counties (Economic Research Service, 2017), they also have a low education indicator, which means at least 20% or more of the residents aged 25 to 64 failed to receive a high school diploma or equivalent from

2008 to 2012 (Economic Research Service, 2017). What is more, they displayed a lowemployment indicator meaning less than 65% of the residents aged 25 to 64 were employed from 2008 to 2012 (Economic Research Service, 2017).

In summary, Harmon and Tillman Counties demonstrate a high need for community development and renewal. Resources in these individual counties need to be identified and established to assist the people living there improve their overall quality of life and wellbeing. Even with heavy population loss and persistent poverty present, these two counties likely have local resources available to help facilitate their development and wellbeing if they know where to look and how to access them (Gutierrez-Montes et al., 2009). Such rural communities can appear dire and marginalized when assessing various metric indicators, but they also likely contain critical assets necessary to facilitate sustainable growth and development. It is imperative these assets be identified, and citizens be made aware of them if growth, development, and renewal of these communities is to occur.

Community Capitals Framework (CCF)

The CCF was used to theoretically undergird the study. CCF provides the means to evaluate community development opportunities by focusing on the capitals (i.e., assets) within a community, determine how they interact and impact one another (Emery & Flora, 2006; Gutierrez-Montes et al., 2009), and diagnose a community's present situation (Gutierrez-Montez et al., 2009).

The CCF provides a holistic view of the community development process in action (Pigg et al., 2013). The main objectives that drive the use of CCF: (a) identify community assets used to accomplish sustainable development (Fernando & Goreman, 2018; Flora & Arnold, 2012; Flora & Flora, 2013). Community assets include, but are not limited to social ties, natural amenities, and communication channels. Community assets develop into a self-reinforcing cycle to increase

or decrease community opportunity and wellbeing (Emery & Flora, 2006; Fernando & Goreman, 2018); and (b) determine a community's success or lack thereof, by analyzing the changes in its capitals (Emery et al., 2009; Emery & Flora, 2006; Fernando & Gorman, 2018; Gutierrez-Montes et al., 2009).

CCF consists of seven specific capitals (see Figure 2): natural, built, financial, human, social, political, and cultural (Flora et al., 2016). Any resource capable of producing additional resources is classified as a capital (Flora et al., 1992). Capitals can also be defined as assets from which a particular community can build. Therefore, the assets identified in these counties are represented in the available capitals. Through the lens of CCF, researchers can examine the unique concerns and challenges various communities face (Beaven, 2014). CCF can also identify specific capitals that will facilitate a community's sustainable development process (Emery & Flora, 2006; Gutierrez-Montes et al., 2009). Each of the community capitals overlaps others resulting in a healthy ecosystem (see Figure 2).

Previous analyses using CCF focused on particular community changes such as a new economic endeavor or a natural disaster. A community is a group that reside within a close proximity and have frequent interactions (Galbreath, 2017). CCF allows researchers to examine and compare data among and between, pinpoint problem areas in, and inform response and mitigation about areas affected by various shocks and trends (Beaven, 2014). Vulnerabilities in rural communities' development have been identified using CCF to research a particular community's systematic changes (Beaven, 2014). Vulnerabilities could be the result of shocks and trends that lead to the loss of a healthy ecosystem, economic insecurity and social exclusion as depicted in Figure 2. Exposing the nuances and vulnerabilities of rural communities could result in more extensive public support, policy changes, and community resiliency (Beaven, 2014; Ritchie & Gill, 2007, 2011). Each of the community capitals work in tandem to provide insight to the needs of a particular community (Beaven, 2014).

Figure 2



Community Capitals Framework (Flora et al., 2016, p.17)

Community development is a complex process, and CCF provides a tool for understanding the dynamics presented by community change (Pigg et al., 2013). The CCF can be used to identify capital availability, their relationships with and among each other, and their impact on providing more valuable and appropriate community development strategies in rural counties (Fernando & Goreham, 2018; Jacob, 2007). As a result, using the CCF allows community developers to observe holistic community changes in their communities and provide a systematic evaluation of them through the various capitals they possess (Emery & Flora, 2006; Fernando & Goreham, 2018).

Community capitals are essential for community and economic development (Zekeri, 2013). Community capitals become tools for which communities can assess their current assets and identify potential improvement areas (Jacobs, 2011). A community's capitals, or assets, are naturally integrated (Kline et al., 2018) and form nearly all the rural communities' base (Flora et

al., 1992). A description of each independent community capital is listed and described in further detail below.

Built Capital

Built capital includes the human-made infrastructure that exists in a community, such as utility, water, waste systems, roads, schools, hospitals, community facilities, and buildings (Flora & Flora, 2008; Monier, 2011). Roads provide a means for a community to transports goods and people for the economic benefit of the community (Chandra & Thompson, 2000; Hunter et al., 2020). Built capital provides durable physical assets to a community (Flora et al., 2016; Fritz et al., 2007; Tweten, 2008) and is dependent on the financial capital present within a community because of its ability to provide goods and services to that community (Flora et al., 2016). Each community possesses some measure of built capital. Jacobs (2011) stated as rural communities continue to reduce population, tax base decreases, and funding dwindles for existing and newly formed structures, built capital declines.

A recurring theme in built capital in rural communities is a lack of quality affordable housing (Jacobs, 2011). Quality of life and the livability of a community can be measured by the housing stock within that community (Sawicki & Flynn, 1996) and community tax benefits can be accessed in homes that are owner occupied (Poterba & Todd, 2008). A lack of inadequate housing is a problem facing numerous rural communities, which includes heating, cooling, and sanitation systems (Morton et al., 2004). Rural communities are abundant in economic blight especially in the form of dilapidated housing (Skobba et al., 2019). In addition to houses, buildings in rural areas have higher levels of structural, and maintenance and condition problems than their urban counterparts (Van Zandt et al., 2009). According to the Housing Assistance Council (2012) and QutbAldeen (2020), rural communities have higher rates of substandard houses and buildings which are often outdated, hazardous, and experiencing physical deterioration. To make matters worse, vacancy rates across the U.S. have decreased over the last

five years leading to less affordable rentals (Rohe, 2017). The abandonment of homes and buildings within a community due to population loss leads to their decay and danger (QutbAldeen, 2020). Unfortunately, once a lot becomes vacant from the demolition of dilapidated buildings in rural communities, it does not have a high chance of being utilized again (QutbAldeen, 2020) further exacerbating the blight issue.

Sewell et al. (2019) highlighted inadequate road infrastructure also directly impacts communities by limiting access to basic services, decreasing socio-economic conditions, and increasing isolation and poverty. Roads provide a means for a community to transports goods and people for the economic benefit of the community (Chandra & Thompson, 2000; Hunter et al., 2020).

Communication infrastructure, such as broadband internet, is also an essential part of built capital; it allows rural citizens to acquire information, work, and access services such as education and medical care (Fox & Porca, 2001). Communication infrastructure can alleviate isolation felt by various rural communities and enhance rural social resilience or the ability of the community to withstand external stresses (Ashmore et al., 2017; Marshall et al., 2020).

Within a community, built capital supports other capital production and residents' quality of life by providing necessary physical infrastructure (Flora et al., 2016; Ringwood, 2017). Although built capital is essential to a community's success, its presence alone does not guarantee a community's economic health and wellbeing (Flora et al., 2016). Flora et al. (2016) discussed multiple types of built capital, and communities will vary in the types of built capital present. Investment in built capital is important, but it cannot be the only capital for which a community focuses; other capitals must be enhanced as well (Jacobs, 2011).

Natural Capital

Natural capital consists of natural resources and amenities, such as land and water availability and usage (Monier, 2011). Natural capital refers to a community's water and soil availability and quality, landscapes, and general biodiversity (Flora & Flora, 2008; Thompson, 2016; Zaman, 2015). Historically, natural capital has been observed in distinct categories such as land use, water concerns, biodiversity, and climate (Flora et al., 2016; Nelson et al., 2021; Zaman, 2015). The asset of land availability and access is a valuable natural capital (Flora et al., 2016) because, in part, it leads to the development of other capitals. Farming and logging are considered important aspects of a community's natural capital; however, these entities also become part of a community's financial capital (Flora et al., 2016). Natural resources are critical in the development of a community (Zaman, 2015). Various rural communities often face long-lasting droughts, which can result in harmful agricultural and ecological impacts (Witt, 1997). When rural agrarian communities experience precipitation deficits, it can lead to hardships through decreased crop yields, water shortages, increased wildfire, and death of livestock (Logan et al., 2010; Witt, 1997).

Land use also provides a community with increased financial capital through the buying and selling of property that can then be used to improve built capital; the land is also used to provide for the conservation of a balanced ecosystem and cultural capital (Flora et al., 2016). Land and other natural resources have a direct connection to agricultural production and use in rural areas (Kilkenny & Partridge, 2009). Natural capital directly connects to financial capital due to economic activities such as farming and mining; additionally, natural capital affects cultural and social capitals by inspiring traditions and lifestyle behaviors (Emery & Flora, 2006; Flora & Flora, 2013; Ringwood, 2017). Rural communities can use their natural capital for ecotourism, which allows for non-consumption use of said natural capital, and agritourism, which allows for the participation in agricultural practices (Fennell & Weaver, 1997). Rural residents face unique challenges on their land in relation to agricultural production and other economic production such

as runoff, pesticide/herbicide spreading to neighbors, and ownership of underground estates, i.e., water, oil, coal, and natural gas (Zimmermann & Weible, 2017). A community's interaction with its natural capital is dependent on its infrastructure used to bring access to that resource, e.g., irrigation or other systems supplying water (Ternes, 2017).

Communities rely on water availability to be sustainable (Flora et al., 2016). Thus, water and surface water area are measured natural capitals (Hunter et al., 2020; McGranahan, 1999). Communities have used natural capital to develop other capitals; hence, the balance of biodiversity and climate change are part of the conversation surrounding natural capital (Flora et al., 2016). Biodiversity efforts of farmers in rural communities may help them be able to better manage natural capital (Birge & Herzon, 2019). An abundance of natural capital leads to a balanced ecosystem (Callaghan & Colton, 2008). Natural capital forms the foundation from which all community capitals develop (Fey et al., 2006; Flora et al., 2016).

Rural employment is often strongly influenced by the agricultural sector (Korsgaard, 2015; Malanski et al., 2021), while extractive natural resource employment comprises, on average, less than 2% of rural employment (Mueller, 2020). Extractive natural resources employment includes activities such as oil and gas, mining, or commercial logging (Muller & Tickamyer, 2020). Natural capital is essential in fostering economic development in rural communities (Crowe, 2008; Mueller & Tickamyer, 2020). However, additional research is needed regarding its impact on community development.

Financial Capital

"Financial capital includes savings, income generation, fees, loans and credits, gifts and philanthropy, taxes, and tax exemptions and is key to sustaining rural communities" (Flora et al., 2016, p. 16). Poverty levels and household income are measures of financial capital (Hunter et al., 2020). Urban communities tend to have more access to financial capital than do rural

communities (Marshall & Samal, 2006). Financial capital provides local governments with the ability to invest in public and private capitals with the intention community members can establish and maintain businesses (Flora et al., 2016; Monier, 2011). Financial capital can be accessed through federal and state government organizations for individual communities (Flora et al., 2016). Financial capital also provides resources for individuals to establish homes and businesses (Flora et al., 2016). As such, it is the most mobile and one of the more easily transformed of the community capitals (Flora et al., 2016; Ringwood, 2017). Rural communities aiming for sustainable growth need to retain their financial capital, identify local investment risks, and seek outside funding to help sustain local, rural businesses (Flora et al., 2016).

Entrepreneurship or other business ventures within a community must have financial capital to sustain development and growth (Hui Siang, 2017). Entrepreneurship through the development of local businesses is one way to revitalize rural communities (de Guzman et al., 2020). Currently, in rural areas, self-employed farm businesses are the leading entrepreneurship enterprises while urban areas have more a more diverse set of entrepreneurial activities (Gladwin et al., 1990). Joo (2011) determined entrepreneurship is more aberrant in rural communities than urban communities because urban communities offer additional resources, i.e., higher education levels, higher ethnicity and diversity, higher income per capita, and higher population density, to name a few, than do their rural counterparts. Both civic and social entrepreneurship are supported by financial capital, and this capital assures a community's ability to continue development through the creation of wealth (Dunn-Young, 2012; Emery & Flora, 2006). Unfortunately, rural firms are vulnerable to changes in shocks and trends in demographics, economics, and market conditions (Marshall & Samal, 2006). Resilient communities, however, have strong financial capital because of their ability to support economic activity, leverage additional capitals, and increase business productivity and expansion (Zaman, 2015).

Human Capital

Human capital includes the number of people living in a community and their personal attributes such as health, education, training, and interpersonal skills (Becker, 1964; Flora et al., 2016; Tweten, 2008; Zaman, 2015). The components of health, education, training, skills, and talents of each community member help strengthen and contribute to a community (Hunter et al., 2020; Monier, 2011; Ringwood, 2017). Tajuddin (2011) and Zaman (2015) found human capital must be present in a community development program to ensure the program's success. A community deficient in human capital will face challenges seeking economic development (Flora et al., 2016). Therefore, available and appropriate human capital can improve the economic capabilities and vitality of a community (Mattos, 2015; Schultz, 1971; Sweetwater, 1996). In addition to innate learned skills, age is a component of human capital. A community's collective human capital is imperative because the various attributes and abilities each individual possesses determines what can be provided for the community, writ large (Flora et al., 2016). Human capital allows numerous advantages to businesses and employers because of the skills and knowledge of the people they employ (Lepak & Snell, 1999).

Migration trends and the presence of a local labor force can profoundly affect a community's human capital (Flora et al., 2016). Petrin et al. (2014) argued not all migration is negative. In fact, outmigration of youth can increase a community's collective human capital if they return home with increased education, life experiences, and skills (Farmer et al., 2006; Petrin, 2014). A person's education and skills are important components of human capital development (Dunn-Young, 2012) because they lead to individual, community, and national growth (Sweetland, 1996) and are critical to creating sustainable community development (Voila et al., 2019). Therefore, rural schools and school systems are especially critical in the development of human capital because they provide a place for youth to acquire and practice knowledge and skills that can be applied in the community (Flora et al., 2016).

The loss of rural schools has been associated with rural population decline of human capital (Lehtonen, 2021). The change in education level needed to work available jobs has left rural communities in a compromising position as they face an educated workforce's outmigration (Flora et al., 2016). One measurement of human capital within a community is the attainment of academic degrees of its residents (Marrocu & Paci, 2012). People who are more highly educated (i.e., hold advanced academic degrees) tend to create more innovative, open, and inclusive environments, which increases a region's economic efficiency (Marrocu & Paci, 2012).

Finally, rural areas are faced with human capital challenges, such as high poverty rates, due to the lack of opportunities present in education and health (Flora et al., 2016). Such communities face a plethora of challenges in relation to healthcare, or lack thereof, i.e., qualification and quantity health care professionals, proximity to health care facilities, and insurance coverages (Inagami et al., 2016; Nelson et al., 2021; Zhao et al., 2019).

Social Capital

Social capital is the network of relationships that link members of a community together (Monier, 2011; Wold, 2007). Community development is expedited by the amount of social capital a community possesses (Zaman, 2015). Organizations, groups, networks, and other community bonds all comprise social capital (Jacobs, 2011). One individual cannot achieve social capital alone; rather, it is a community- and group-level phenomenon (Flora et al., 2016). Social capital is responsible for the connection or social ties individual members feel toward one another within a given community (Beaven, 2014). Social capital can build trust among community members who may facilitate positive contributions for the adoption of new innovations, and the ability to cope with catastrophic events such as drought, fires, and frost (Cofre-Bravo et al., 2019). Social capital can be categorized into two groups: bonding and bridging.

Bonding Social Capital

Bonding social capital includes the intimate ties that build cohesion within relatively homogenous groups of a community, i.e., peers, families, and neighbors (Cofre-Bravo et al., 2019; Emery & Flora, 2006; Flora et al., 2016; Hui Siang, 2017; Mattos, 2015; Wold, 2007). Greater community cohesion helps a community withstand vulnerabilities such as an aging population, population loss, and enhancement of skills need to engage with technological advancement (Henness et al., 2013). Community cohesion can be achieved through a myriad of ways such as narrowing the gaps between generations through the building of relationships between youth and their communities by establishing youth programs such as 4-H and FFA (Henness et al., 2013). Such efforts have the capacity to create and sustain a more unified community (Hui Siang, 2017). Bonding capital can also unite a community in and through a common cause (Wold, 2007). It is a bond that forms strong ties between familiar people such as families, close friends, neighbors, and homogenous groups (Babaei et al., 2012; Wakefield & Poland, 2005; Woolcock, 1998).

Bridging Social Capital

Bridging social capital creates and maintains ties that bridge organizations and communities together (Emery & Flora, 2006; Flora et al., 2016; Hui Siang, 2017; Mattos, 2015; Wold, 2007). Without bridging capitals, it would not be possible for a community to connect with outsiders (Hui Siang, 2017). Bridging social capital can link rural communities with formal research-based knowledge, training, and financial resources to apply to their communities (Cofre-Bravo et al., 2019).

Communication channels are a key aspect of social capital and must be present to improve social capital (Flora et al., 2016). Social networks need to be present and diverse within and outside the community in question (Flora et al., 2016). The prevalence of social capital within a community provides depth to a community's ability to build, network, and organize (Beaven, 2014; Flora & Flora, 2008; Putnam, 2000). Collective action is facilitated through social capital; thus, it is essential for community development (Hotchkiss, 2019; Woolcock, 2001). Social capital is critical for communities to develop because it includes reciprocity and mutual trust (Flora et al., 2016). Social capital serves as a catalyst for sustainable development within a community because it provides synergy amidst the other forms of capital (Flora et al., 2016). Advancements occur when social capital is present and utilized (Dinda, 2008). Strong social capital will aid communities in a crisis (Sanders et al., 2015; Whittaker et al., 2012).

Tajuddin (2011) found social capital significantly influenced an Iowa rural community's ability to sustain economic development, which is consistent with other research (Putnam, 1993). Communities with high social capital can improve their communities both socially and economically (Tajuddin, 2011). Desired outcomes are most likely achieved if founded in social capital due to their ability to connect individuals and groups (Agnitsch, 2003). Rupasingha et al. (2006) determined a community's social capital can be measured by ties that could be created by religious organizations, civic and social associations, business associations, political organizations, professional organizations, labor organizations, bowling centers, physical fitness facilities, public golf courses and sports clubs, managers, and promoters, as well as the number of non-profits present in a community.

Political Capital

Members of a community have an instinctive need to promote community development, which is known as political capital (Monier, 2011). Political capital plays a critical role across communities and community development because it directly reflects citizens' willingness to contribute to their community (Monier, 2011). It includes access to resources such as other capitals and serves as leverage to people who are in power (Jacobs, 2011). Power and the power brokers are reflected in political capital as well as their ability to influence and enforce rules,

regulations, and standards (Mattos, 2015). Historically, rural power was held by the elites, those who owned land, and enforced hierarchal and paternalistic societies (Woods, 2008). Political power holders in rural communities can be an influential person who was not necessarily formally elected (Utami & Cramer, 2020). As outmigration occurred due to economic opportunities, power positions became available and rural residents filled these positions to defend cultural and economic interests within their communities (Woods, 2003). Civic and political involvement can be achieved on the youth level through programs such as FFA and 4-H, thus providing youth with the ability and opportunity to contribute to their communities (Henness et al., 2013).

The use and distribution of influence determine the power structure of a community (Flora et al., 2017). This power associated with political capital is not evenly distributed and can reflect the dominant cultural capital (Flora & Flora, 2013; Ringwood, 2017). The use of power allows political capital to be transformed into built capital, cultural capital, financial capital, and social capital (Flora et al., 2016). Gutierrez-Montes (2005) stated:

Political capital reflects the ability to deal with coercion and enforcement, the ability to participate and have a voice and the ability to access power and influence decisions and actions that in a modernization process will transform all the other community capitals. (p. 15)

Thus, political capital finds its place with the other community capitals within this framework. For sustainable development to be successful in a community, power structures need to be pluralistic and have broad participation from the community (Flora et al., 2016). Simply, the communities with higher political capital have a greater focus on sustainable policies (Mueller, 2019) because, in large part, political capital creates political actors who are more inclined to address community problems (Mueller, 2019).

Cultural Capital
How a community perceives values and the world around them is considered cultural capital (Flora et al., 2016; Gutierrez-Montes, 2005, Thompson, 2016). Flora et al. (2016) stated: "cultural capital generally is expressed through families and other social institutions, and it varies by race, class, ethnicity, and gender" (p. 103). Rural communities are ethnically diverse (Lee & Sharp, 2017; Lichter, 2012), which provides rural communities with the opportunity to develop strategies to improve cohesion and quality of life for all residents (Lee & Sharp, 2017). Sizemore (2004) determined language and race diversity can lead to the benefit of the community because it can draw in monetary value through the implementation of programs to help existing minority groups and that wealth can benefit the entire community. Diversity benefits can only be obtained if current community members choose to increase community harmony over intergroup avoidance and integration conflict (Lee & Sharp, 2017; Sizemore, 2004).

Cultural capital can include the language spoken because languages connect people and shape how they view information (Moskal, 2014). As such, cultural capitals can aid in the discovery of dominant beliefs of a community (Beaven, 2014). Rural communities have diverse backgrounds, beliefs, and experiences that impact their cultural capital (Foreman & Nelson, 2021). Cultural capital forms from the main values in the community, and since many rural communities are historically agrarian societies, their cultural capital typically revolves around the importance of agriculture (Talhelm et al., 2014). As rural communities have become more developed, certain values have diminished (Flora et al., 2016). Ward (1955) argued property ownership and neighborliness have been cultural values that have reduced over time due, in part, to advancements in society such as agricultural mechanization.

Cultural capital provides identity to communities (Zekeri, 2013). Cultural capital is important to a community because it provides meaning, context, passing on norms, values, and possessions, and how individuals or community perspectives react to community development initiatives (Flora et al., 2016). Community capitals are interconnected, and the group with the most political capital will often greatly influence the prevailing cultural capital (Beaven, 2014; Flora & Flora, 2008). A community's cultural capital helps members determine what is good about their community and what change is necessary and possible (Flora et al., 2016).

CCF research has been a lens used by researchers to better understand the shocks, trends, and vulnerabilities a community may face (Flora et al., 2016). CCF allows a community the ability to detect if it has the resources available to sustain community development efforts. CCF has been used extensively by the Rural Renewal Initiative (RRI) research team at Oklahoma State University to highlight and address various wicked rural problems in Oklahoma and across the world (Oklahoma State University, 2021a).

Rural Renewal Initiative (RRI)

In 2019, with the help of the Office of the Vice-President of Research, a group of Oklahoma State University researchers launched the RRI to address research needs critical to improving quality of life in rural communities. The mission of the RRI is to "catalyze the renewal of rural communities and places in Oklahoma and beyond through interdisciplinary research, student mobilization and community engagement" (Oklahoma State University, 2021a, para. 2). To pursue this mission, RRI has established: 1) a Rural Scholars program, which consists of student researchers living and working in selected rural counties to collect research and participate in community development and service activities; 2) funding as seed grants to support interdisciplinary research teams in collecting data on the needs, assets, and capitals affecting rural places; and 3) an annual symposium to celebrate the organization's successful research and service ventures (Oklahoma State University, 2021a).

As a place-based initiative (Oklahoma State University, 2021a), RRI recognized a need for rural renewal efforts in Harmon and Tillman Counties, Oklahoma because of their low score in the USDA ERS Typology Codes. Harmon and Tillman Counties were selected for a seed grant with the goals to determine how rural health systems can alter the communities' persistent poverty levels (Oklahoma State University, 2021a). This seed grant awarded up to \$100,000 over a two-year period for a research project (University State University, 2021a).

Chapter Summary

Rural communities face multifaceted and complex challenges; however, the communities are necessary to the culture and livelihood of the U.S. by providing food and clothing for the world. CCF serves as a conceptual lens by which researchers can better understand and assess communities. CCF allows a community the ability to detect if it has the resources available to sustain community development efforts, which can assist organizations that are making strides to initiate successful community development efforts.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

This chapter includes the published sources from which data were retrieved, the observed values measured, capitals present in Harmon and Tillman Counties, and their comparison to other, similar, farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma. All data for this study were quantitative and archival data, which were collected through previous research studies (Church, 2002; Hox & Boeije, 2005). Archival data provided information for the capitals that were present in the selected farming-dependent counties. A minimum and maximum scaling system was used to analyze indicators used to represent community capitals (Links et al., 2018).

There was a need to identify these counties' assets for rural renewal. Assets, or resources, possessed or accessed by people in a community are referred to as capitals (Gutierrez-Montes et al., 2009). The CCF model by Flora et al. (2016) provided the lens to examine the community capitals present in these two target counties. Two research objectives guided the study.

 Determine the community capitals in all rural, farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma. Compare the community capitals present in Harmon and Tillman Counties to other, rural, farming-dependent counties using the Economic Research Service Typology Codes.

Research Design

Comparison County Selection Process

Counties provide a scale by which to measure communities (Links et al., 2018). Therefore, counties were chosen as the unit of analysis, and various indicators were measured according to the CCF. When selecting comparison counties, all counties coded as metro or urban were eliminated. Next, all counties not coded as farming-dependent were eliminated. To meet the criteria of being farming-dependent, 25% or more of the county's earnings, or 16% or more of the employment average over 2010-2012, must come from farming (Economic Research Service, 2017). A comparison of counties with similar economic types was determined to be a better comparison. The ERS County Typography Codes determines economic types by the percentage of county earnings coming from a specific industry (Economic Research Service, 2017). Multiple counties in Oklahoma were solely farming dependent and did not overlap with any other economic type. Using farming-dependent counties allowed for the comparison of counties based on similarities.

Harmon and Tillman Counties are deficient in all five areas rated by the ERS County Typology; the remaining farming-dependent counties are deficient in fewer areas. All counties selected are solely coded as farming-dependent and do not receive significant income in any other area. Stofferahn (2009) determined farming-dependent counties provided a way to compare community, economic, and social issues across communities due to their similarities. Therefore, additional farming-dependent counties were chosen for the analysis. In all, ten counties in Oklahoma are identified as being rural and farming-dependent: Atoka, Cimarron, Coal, Harmon, Harper, Hughes, Jefferson, Nowata, Okfuskee, and Tillman (see Figure 3). As such, all ten were included in the study for comparison.

Figure 3

Rural, Farming-dependent Oklahoma Counties



The ERS Typology rated Atoka County deficient in low employment and persistent related child poverty. Cimarron County was rated deficient in low education, and population loss. Coal County was rated deficient in persistent poverty and persistent related child poverty. Harper County was not deficient in any of the areas. Hughes County was deficient in the areas related to low employment, persistent poverty, and persistent related child poverty. Jefferson County was not deficient in population loss, and persistent related child poverty. Nowata County was not deficient in any of the areas. Okfuskee County was rated deficient in low employment, persistent poverty, and persistent related child poverty. Nowata County was not deficient in any of the areas. Okfuskee County was rated deficient in low employment, persistent poverty.

As measures were chosen to be analyzed, specific data were needed for each of the counties. Table 1 provides land area in square miles for each county. In total, the land area in

square miles for these ten counties ranged from 516.68, Coal County (the fewest square miles of land availability) to 1834.74, Cimarron County (the largest square miles of land availability).

Table 1

Land Area in Square Miles of Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma,

2010

	Land Area	
County	in Square Miles	Rank ^a
Atoka	975.52	3
Cimarron	1834.74	1
Coal	516.68	10
Harmon	537.19	9
Harper	1039.02	2
Hughes	804.65	5
Jefferson	758.83	6
Nowata	565.78	8
Okfuskee	618.57	7
Tillman	871.13	4

Note. aCounties were ranked from largest to smallest.

Table 2 provides population and population per square mile for the selected ten counties. Land area provided the researchers the ability to analyze measured capitals relating to land area within the counties. For human capital to be present each county had to have a resident population. The population and population per square mile indicators allowed for the analysis of different aspects of the CCF. The county with the greatest population was Atoka (13,758), and the county with the least population was Cimarron (2,137).

Table 2

Population Estimates 2019

	Population per	
Population	square mile	Rank ^a
13,758	14.3	1
2,137	1.2	10
	Population 13,758 2,137	PopulationPopulation per square mile13,75814.3 2,1371.2

Table 2 (continued)

Population E	stimates	2019
--------------	----------	------

		Population per	
County	Population	square mile	Rank ^a
Coal	5,495	10.9	7
Harmon	2,653	4.8	9
Harper	3,668	3.5	8
Hughes	13,279	16.3	2
Jefferson	6,002	7.8	6
Nowata	10,076	17.8	4
Okfuskee	11,993	19.0	3
Tillman	7,250	8.3	5

Note. ^aCounties were ranked from largest to smallest.

Data Gathering

Secondary data sources were used for all capitals present across the ten counties. Data were gathered from the following sources: U.S. Census, USDA's Natural Amenities Index, Penn State University's Social Capital Index, Oklahoma Department of Transportation, Oklahoma Mesonet, United States Department of Agriculture-National Agricultural Statistic Service (USDA-NASS), and Internal Revenue Service. All data were collected from the most recent year recorded. These sources provided critical data important in determining if Harmon and Tillman Counties have the current resources present to support community development compared to other rural farming-dependent counties.

Observed indicators were selected for each of the seven community capitals. Researchers selected indicators that most accurately represented the capitals based on previous research (Flora et al., 2016; Ringwood, 2017; Turi, 2014). The indicators selected represent essential services and needs of the communities (Links et al., 2018) and were selected from the review of literature. Following the example of Links et al., (2018), indicators were measured by structures and process (e.g., total highway mileage by land area in square miles) rather than reporting outcomes (total highway mileage). Indicators chosen were observed and varied in measurement across all rural,

farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma. There are multiple indicators selected for each capital. Indicators were compiled into the capital category they most represented. However, it is possible they may contain aspects that might align with another or multiple capital category(ies).

Built Capital Observed Indicators

Human activity within a community cannot function without built capital (Flora et al., 2016). Communities use built capital to help develop other capitals through the infrastructure they provide. Rural communities are vulnerable due to poorly maintained, inappropriate, and underutilized infrastructure (Ashley & Touchton, 2016; Brotsky et al., 2019; Corbet, 2014; Ryer et al., 2020). Inadequate infrastructure can significantly impact development because it can take additional resources to maintain, renovate, and improve resources such as high-speed broadband internet and other technologies (Bauch, 2001; Gibson et al., 2014; Ryer et al., 2020). Miles of highway (Chandra & Thompson, 2000; Hunter et al., 2020), percent of households with internet subscriptions, and occupied housing are all indicators of built capital (Ringwood, 2017; Turi, 2014). To gain an understanding of the available built capital in these communities, the following indicators were included and assessed in these farming-dependent counties: (a) miles of highway per county square mile of county area, (b) percent homes owner occupied, and (c) percent of households with internet subscription.

Our expectation is that counties with higher built capital will most likely have more miles of highway present, and a higher percentage of their population with a high-speed internet subscription. Of observed internet subscriptions, a high percentage of that should be broadband, which is high-speed internet (Whitacre & Strecker, 2007). We also desire for the percentage of owner-occupied homes to be high in these counties.

Financial Capital Observed Indicators

36

Financial capital is a resource with liquidity; it can easily be transformed into another asset (Flora et al., 2016). Ringwood (2017) stated monetary resources and assets display a community's financial capital. "Community financial capital can be assessed by changes in poverty, firm efficiency, diversity of firms, and local people's increased assets" (Flora et al., 2016, p. 16). Financial capital is measured through poverty levels and household income (Hunter et al., 2020). With those assessment recommendations, the following indicators were measured to assess and compare the financial capital availability in the ten target counties: (a) percent population below the poverty line, (b) mean annual income, (c) taxable interest, and (d) ordinary dividends.

Poverty is represented by the percent of the total county's population living below the poverty line. Mean annual income, taxable interest, and ordinary dividends provide insight regarding the counties' useable assets that could be transformed into other capitals. We anticipated counties with higher financial capital would possess higher percentages of firms, taxable interest, and ordinary dividends, in addition to a high mean annual income. As such, we assume the percent population below the poverty line should be low in these cases.

Natural Capital Observed Indicators

Natural capital is the basis from which other capitals form (Flora et al., 2016). Percent water and percent land areas are suitable measures of natural capital (Hunter et al., 2000; McGranahan, 1999; Ringwood, 2017). We added rainfall to the measured natural capital metric because of its direct relation to agricultural production (Alam et al., 2011). We also made the decision to include irrigated agricultural land acres as a form of natural capital because it demonstrates water availability (Flora et al., 2016; Ternes, 2017), a necessity in farming-dependent counties. Because agricultural production is so largely influenced by water, we used

37

the following indicators to assess natural capital present in the ten targeted counties: (a) total annual rainfall in inches, (b) percent water area, and (c) irrigated agricultural land acres.

Human Capital Observed Indicators

The analysis of human capital was represented by various data. One portion of the data consisted of education, such as the percent of the population with various education levels and opportunities to acquire advanced education. Health, education, and skills are all appropriate measures of human capital (Hunter et al., 2020; Monier, 2011; Ringwood, 2017). Regarding education, academic degrees (i.e., percent of population with a high school diploma, percent of population with an associate's degree, bachelor's degree, and percent of population with a graduate or professional degree) are expressed as human capital measurements (Ringwood, 2017; Turi, 2014). In addition to education, the workforce and healthcare coverage (i.e., medically insured versus medically uninsured) are also indicators of a community's human capital (Ringwood, 2017).

The overall human capital is benefitted by the community's education level (Tweten, 2008). Percent labor force participation showed the percent of residents who are using skills and talents in the workforce. The higher percentages of people involved in the labor force is rationale that appropriate human capital (i.e., skills and talents) is being used. Therefore, we expected that communities with high levels of human capital also have higher levels of educational attainment and medically insured residents.

Social Capital Observed Indicators

A community formed from human interaction is known as social capital (Flora et al., 2016). Social capital builds trust and establishes bonds within a community (Flora et al., 2016). Social capital can be difficult to measure because it exists within and between people inside and outside of a community (Ringwood, 2017). Following guidance from previous research

(Ringwood, 2017; Rupsingha, 2006; Turi, 2014), the following indicators were included to represent the social capital present in the target and selected counties: (a) religious organizations, (b) civic and social organizations, (c) business associations, (d) professional associates, (e) labor organizations, (f) bowling centers, (g) fitness and recreational sports centers, (h) golf courses and country clubs, (i) sports teams and clubs, and (j) non-profit organizations. All indicators were totaled. The sum was then divided by the total population to determine the rate of organizations within each farming-dependent county.

The capitals provide opportunities for residents of these communities to build social capital through human interactions. They quantify bonding relationships. Within rural communities', churches or religious organizations provide the opportunities for residents to experience diversity and build social capital due to their interconnected nature and ability to form social ties (Foreman & Nelson, 2021). Ties that could facilitate community development can be identified in these social associations, clubs, and organizations. For our study, we assumed elevated numbers in all social capital measurements were ideal because they demonstrated positive relationships within the various counties.

Political Capitals Observed Indicators

Political capital represents the dominant thoughts and ideas within a community (Flora et al., 2016). Census response rates and political organizations per capita were deemed to be measurable metrics for determining political capital (Ringwood, 2017). Previous research recorded voter turnout (Ringwood, 2017), but voter registration was chosen to represent political capital in this study because it is indicative of the total potential voters available in the counties. These items were selected to be measured because they demonstrated citizens' political engagement within their respective communities. The following indicators were measured to

assess the political capital present in the target and selected counties: (a) percent voter registration, (b) census response rate, and (c) political organizations per capita.

Political capital provides community members the ability to access power and transform their communities (Gutierrez-Montes, 2005). Voter registration quantifies the residents who are available to impact community development through voting. Census response rates allow the people to have a voice, which then can be translated into representing other capitals. Empowering people to voice their thoughts and concerns can lead to disagreement. Therefore, community development issues present in the community need to be discussed and debated sufficiently (Flora et al., 2016). Within the counties, political organizations can provide outlets for such discussion to ensue. Thus, communities with higher political capital were assumed to have higher percentages of voter registration, census response rates, and higher political organizations per capita.

Cultural Capitals Observed Indicators

Cultural capital is received from one generation to the next through various factors, and it shapes how individuals interpret the world around them (Flora et al., 2016). Community identities would not be present without cultural capital (Zekeri, 2013). Cultural capital is difficult to measure because it is a community's mindset and sense of identity (Ringwood, 2017). Flora et al. (2016) suggested families can impact the culture within a community. Cultural capital can be influenced by language (Moskal, 2014); thus, it was a chosen variable. Tangible items impact and help measure a community's cultural capital. For this study, the following indicators were measured to assess the cultural capital present in the target and selected counties: (a) percent language spoken, (b) percent population race and ethnicity, and (c) family households.

Cultural capital is transferred through various social institutions, chief among them being family units (Flora et al., 2016). Understanding cultural capital provides communities their

40

identities, language and race were selected to represent identities within these counties. These items affect the cultural atmosphere of the community and how individuals within the community interact. Cultural capital within itself could not be quantified as high or low without going through additional statistical or mathematical methods that extended beyond the scope of this study.

Community Capital Data Sources

A large amount of the data retrieved for this study came from the U.S. Census Bureau. Within the U.S. Census Bureau, the American Community Survey (ACS) provided data for multiple community capitals. The ACS uses "a series of monthly samples to produce annually updated estimates for the same areas (census tracts and block groups) formerly surveyed via the decennial census long-form sample" (U.S. Census, 2014, p. 1). The ACS provided recent data sets for this study. Years associated with each data set were provided under each capital's section of data sources.

The U.S. Census strives to provide reliable and valid data. Consequently, the ACS data are based on samples subject to sampling variation (American Community Survey, 2019). The degree of uncertainty in the estimates provided by the U.S. Census through the ACS, arising through sample variability, is presented through a margin of error (American Community Survey, 2019). All values collected for this study show a 90 percent margin of error. The U.S. Census (2018) stated the organization uses quality controls during the entire data collection and reporting process to minimize the effects of nonsampling error.

Built Capital Data Sources

Data for highway miles in all counties were obtained from the Oklahoma Department of Transportation Control Section Maps for the State Highway Inventory Data (Oklahoma Department of Transportation, 2018). Oklahoma Department of Transportation (2018) provided maps and total mileages for state highways. Total milage was divided by total land area which was obtained from National Agricultural Statistics Service (2017).

Owner-occupied housing units were provided by the U.S. Census (2019f). Owneroccupied is a housing unit with an owner or co-owner who lives in it regardless of it is mortgaged or not fully paid for or the home is owned with no mortgage or similar debt (U.S. Census, 2019b). The U.S. Census (2019b) advised organizations to use the data on internet subscriptions, especially broadband technology, to evaluate access to the Internet and to increase access to those with less connectivity. Internet subscription and source was provided by the U.S. Census (2019k).

Financial Capital Data Sources

Poverty status is based on data observed in the past 12 months using 2019: ACS 5-year Estimates (U.S. Census, 2019i). The U.S. Census determines poverty by analyzing a set dollar value threshold which varies depending on family size and composition (U.S. Census, 2019b). Poverty across multiple age groups were included because some of the counties analyzed were coded as persistent poverty and persistent related child poverty. The mean annual income data were retrieved from the U.S. Census (2019h). The data emanate from the mean annual income per household for the past 12 months in 2019 inflation-adjusted dollars. The mean household income is an aggregate of dividing the household income by the total number of households (U.S. Census, 2019b).

Taxable interest and ordinary dividends data were collected from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). The data originated from individual income tax returns using selected income and tax items by state, county, and size-adjusted gross income for the 2018 tax year (IRS, 2021b). Data were collected and analyzed by the Statistics of Income (SOI), a program within the IRS, to distribute data to the public (Internal Revenue Service, 2021a). The county data recorded and published are based on population data that was filed and processed with the IRS the previous calendar year (Internal Revenue Service, 2018). The SOI reports do not have a standard error presented but do include a ratio called the coefficient of variation and controls for nonsampling error (Internal Revenue Service, 2011). Reports are reviewed and compared to ensure the most accurate data are presented.

Natural Capital Data Sources

Percent water area data were retrieved from USDA Economic Research Service Natural Amenities Scale (Economic Research Service, 1999). This scale was most recently updated in 1999. The water area does not frequently change; consequently, this dataset remains reliable over time.

Average rainfall data were taken from the Oklahoma Climatological Survey (2021), which works in unison with Oklahoma Mesonet (2021). The Oklahoma Mesonet is a partnership with the University of Oklahoma and Oklahoma State University and serves as a network of environmental monitoring stations in Oklahoma (McPherson et al., 2007). The Oklahoma Mesonet provides data on temperature, humidity, barometric pressure, wind speed and direction, rainfall, solar radiation, and soil temperature (Brock et al., 1995). With stations in every county, a summary for each month's annual total rainfall in inches was provided. Total annual rainfall accumulation was averaged from the years 2010 to 2020. In counties with multiple Mesonet stations, an average was recorded from all stations. The following stations were used for the rural, farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma: (a) Atoka County- Lane Station, (b) Cimarron County-Kenton and Boise City Stations, (c) Coal County- Centrahoma Station, (d) Harmon County-Hollis Station, (e) Harper County- Buffalo Station, (f) Hughes County- Holdenville Station, (g) Jefferson County- Waurika and Ringling Stations, (h) Nowata County- Nowata Station, (i) Okfuskee County- Okemah, and (j) Tillman County- Tipton and Grandfield Stations. Estimate values were not used in these data. Consequently, annual totals were missing for some stations for various years. For example, the Holdenville Station was missing rainfall annual totals for 2013 and 2016, the Kenton Station was missing annual totals for 2011, 2016, and 2019, the Centrahoma Station was missing rainfall annual totals for 2013, the Buffalo Station was missing rainfall annual totals for 2019, the Nowata Station was missing annual rainfall totals for 2011 and 2014, the Okemah Station was missing rainfall totals for 2014, and the Tipton Station was missing annual rainfall totals for 2011.

The USDA-NASS supplied irrigated agricultural land acres per county land area (National Agricultural Statistics Service, 2017). The USDA-NASS prepared reports on U.S. agriculture and served as a reliable source to report the total amount of irrigated agricultural land present in the counties.

Human Capital Data Sources

Educational attainment data were collected from ACS 5-year estimates for 2019 (U.S. Census, 2019d). These data display the highest level of education achieved by individuals living in the counties. Age demographics were summed together to obtain the total percentage of educational attainment for the population 18 years of age and older. Data retrieved for health insurance coverage indicates selected health insurance coverage characteristics for all noninstitutionalized population in the U.S. by the ACS (U.S. Census, 2019j). Data do not differentiate between sources of insurance coverage, i.e., private or public health coverage. Thus, we elected to use uninsured data to quantify the health component of human capital. The labor force participation rate was retrieved from the ACS 5-year estimates (U.S. Census, 2019e). the population aged 20 to 64 was selected because it more accurately represented those who are currently employed in the workforce.

Social Capital Data Sources

44

The Northeast Regional Center for Rural Development used secondary data sources to create a social capital index (Flora et al., 2016). Data from Penn State University, Social Capital Index information were accessed from 2014, which includes the most recent update. Aggregates of the following were selected and measured: religious organizations, civic and social associations, business associations, political organizations, professional organizations, labor organizations, bowling centers, physical fitness facilities, public golf courses and sports clubs, as well as the number of non-profits (Rupsingha et al, 2006). These indicators were selected due to their presence in the rural, farming dependent counties. All organizations were totaled to obtain the total number of social organizations per county, which allowed for comparisons to be made to each county's population. This index is conducive to research on comparing counties' social capital characteristics (Flora et al., 2016).

Political Capital Data Sources

The census response rate was gathered from the U.S. Census and included the most recent census count which was conducted in 2020 (U.S. Census, 2021). Responses for the 2020 Census were completed via postal mail, phone, or online. Voter registration data were collected from annual voter registration reports by the State of Oklahoma. These annual registration reports are published on January 15 and November 1 of each year (Oklahoma State Election Board, 2019). The report provided the total number of registered voters. The percentages of voters per county were compared to the most recent population data available for each county regarding those 18 years of age and older. The most recent available population data reported by county originated from the ACS 5-year estimate in 2019 (U.S. Census, 2019c). Data determining the available political organizations in each county were obtained from Penn State's Social Capital Index (Rupsingha et al., 2006).

Cultural Capital Data Sources

45

ACS provided data for languages spoken of residents in all the farming-dependent counties (U.S. Census, 2019g). English was the selected language to record because it was most commonly spoken across all the counties. Race demographic data were collected from the U.S. Census (2019a). The races and ethnicities recorded in this study included White, Black or African American, American Indian or Alaska Native, Asian, Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander, Hispanic or Latino of any race, some other race alone, and two or more races. Diversity can be difficult to measure. As such, race and ethnicity data were calculated and recorded for each farming-dependent county using the generalized variance (Budescu & Budescu, 2012). General Variance (GV) was determined using to the following formula:

$$GV = \sum_{i=1}^{C} P_i (1 - Pi) = 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{C} P_i^2$$

 P_i represents the race or ethnicity percentage amount for each county as recorded by the U.S. Census, and *C* represents the number of races or ethnicities present within each county.

The ACS 5-year estimate provided data for percent of household type of which percent family households were used (U.S. Census, 2019f). The percentage of family households is determined by total households in individual counties and not the county total population (U.S. Census, 2019f). According to the U.S. Census, a "household includes all the people who occupy a housing unit" (2019b, p. 78). Therefore, all the following are considered households: house, apartment, mobile home, a group of rooms, and a single room that is occupied as a separate living quarter (U.S. Census, 2019b). The ACS defined the householder as the person whose name is listed online one as the homeowner or renter per the survey questionnaire (U.S. Census, 2019b). If this information is missing, any persons 15 years old and over could be designated as the householder (U.S. Census, 2019b). According to the U.S. Census (2020), a group of two or more

people related by birth, marriage, or adoption to the householder and are residing together are considered to be one family.

Data Analysis

Data analysis was completed following a minimum and maximum scale guided by Links et al. (2018). The minimum indicators of each metric were scaled as 0, and the maximum indicators were scaled as 1 (Links et al., 2018). A scale was used to determine how each county preformed within each community capital indicator. The scales were necessary because they allowed for the comparison of diverse and various indicators.

Microsoft Excel was the selected programming environment for this study of rural, farming-dependent counties. Once data were collected, each indicator was scaled between a +1 or -1 (Links et al., 2018). The positive numbers assume the given capital is better for the community (Links et al., 2018). In contrast, negative number assumes the given capital is worse for the community. A +1 was determined to be the maximum number used to represent the most amount of an indicator across the capitals measured, and a -1 was determined to be the maximum number used to represent the least amount of an indicator across the capitals measured in a particular county. To scale the +1 and -1 indicators, the following formulas were used:

 $= +1 \times (C - \min)/(\max - \min)$

 $= -1 \times (C - max)/(min - max)$

C represents the measurement for each individual county. *C* changed with each new county, but the direction, minimum, and maximum remained the same for each of the ten counties on every indicator. The highest outcome of these formulas was scaled at 1, and the lowest were scaled at 0. The values in between 0 and 1 were where the counties fell in relation between the high (1) and the low (0) numbers assigned (Links et al., 2018).

The scaling of each indicator's output was averaged with other indicators to determine total built, financial, natural, human, social, political, and cultural capital present within each farming-dependent county. Then, community capitals within a county were averaged across all seven categories for these rural, farming-dependent counties. Harmon and Tillman Counties were selected, and their CCF overall averages were compared to those of the other rural, farmingdependent counties. Our rationale for how we scaled the capitals is listed below.

Total county highway mileage (i.e., Built Capital) was scaled +1 because roads are considered a built capital that benefits rural communities (Flora & Flora, 2008; Monier, 2011). Owner-occupied housing was scaled +1 due to tax benefits owner occupied homes provide communities (Poterba & Todd, 2008; Swell et al., 1999). Households with internet subscription and internet from broadband were scaled as +1 because the higher the amount of internet, the higher the potential for communication (Fox & Porca, 2001) and resilience exists in the community (Ashmore et al., 2017; Marshall et al., 2020), which translate into increased built capital.

Poverty (i.e., Financial Capital) in all age groups was scaled -1 because the lower the poverty level, the more financial capital community members have available to use (Flora et al., 2016). Mean annual income, taxable interest, and ordinary dividends were scaled +1 because they represent the economic activity and capital available in the community; a higher indicator scale would thus reflect higher economic resources (Ringwood, 2017; Zaman, 2015) in a county.

Rainfall, total water area, and total irrigated agricultural land (i.e., Natural Capital) are necessary metrics to assess for farming-dependent counties. As such, they were scaled as a +1 because water is essential for agricultural production in farming-dependent counties (Alam et al., 2001; Kilkenny & Partridge 2009; Ternes, 2017).

48

Skills and education (i.e., Human Capital) were scaled as a +1 because education attainment and the development of skills are deemed important for community development (Monier, 2011; Ringwood, 2017). The overall health of people living in a community is related to human capital (Flora et al., 2016). Without health insurance, accessing basic and necessary healthcare is problematic for many rural citizens (Inagami et al., 2016; Nelson et al., 2021; Zhao, et al., 2019). Therefore, uninsured residents were scaled -1. Labor force participation rate was scaled as a +1 because labor force has a direct impact on human capital (Flora et al., 2016). Therefore, the higher the labor force, the higher the human capital.

Social capital provides communities with a means to create connections (Flora et al., 2016). Therefore, counties with high levels of social organization activities were deemed to have high social capital present, resulting in the indicator being scaled as a + 1.

Voter registration, census self-response rate, and political organization (i.e., Political Capital) were used to explain political engagement within a county (Mattos, 2015; Monier, 2011). Consequently, they were scaled as +1.

English only speakers (i.e., Cultural Capital) were scaled as -1. Language connects individuals and shapes beliefs (Moskal, 2014), and its diversity is beneficial to communities (Sizemore, 2004). Therefore, additional spoken languages would connect more individuals together. Family households were scaled as +1 because norms, values, meaning, and context are passed and expressed through families (Flora et al., 2016). Race and ethnicity representing the diversity within the counties was measured as a +1 because if diversity is present within communities, it allows additional opportunities for development and inclusion (Lee & Sharp, 2017; Lichter, 2012), which can serve as a benefit to a community (Sizemore, 2004).

49

CHAPTER IV

FINDINGS

In this chapter, indicators for each community capital are identified and then used to compare Harmon and Tillman Counties to other rural, farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma. This comparison was made by scaling the indicators selected to represent the community capital present within and across each of the counties. The data are provided for each indicator of all community capitals using archival data accessible to the public. A description of where Harmon and Tillman Counties rank in relation to scaled indicator value are described throughout. The overall averages of the indicators for each capital are present as well as the overall average of community capitals within the rural, farming-dependent counties. The data presented in this chapter provide findings useful for community developers in rural, farming dependent counties in Oklahoma and especially for Harmon and Tillman Counties, the two target communities featured in the study.

Individual Capital Findings and Scaling

Built Capital

Built capital provides the infrastructure to all the counties studied. Highway miles per land area in square miles were recorded in each county and scaled +1. The mileage depicted in Table 3 varies and depends on the individual county's geographic size. Miles of highway provided a fixed positive built capital for each of the communities. When comparing miles of highway, Harmon County (0.131 square miles) ranked ninth in highway mileage per land area in square miles. Tillman County (0.153 square miles) ranked sixth out of the ten in scaled total county highway mileage per land area in square miles. Coal County (0.207 square miles) had the most highway mileage per land area in square miles and Cimarron County (0.107 square miles) had the least (see Table 3).

Table 3

	Total County Highway Mileage per Land Area					
County	Square miles	Scale ^a	Rank			
Atoka	0.135	0.28	8			
Cimarron	0.107	0.00	10			
Coal	0.207	1.00	1			
Harmon	0.131	0.24	9			
Harper	0.152	0.45	7			
Hughes	0.176	0.69	3			
Jefferson	0.168	0.61	4			
Nowata	0.167	0.60	5			
Okfuskee	0.202	0.95	2			
Tillman	0.153	0.46	6			

Miles of Highway Available in the Selected Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma

Note. ^aThe scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C - \min)/(\max - \min)$

Total homes owner-occupied in Table 4 show that Harmon County ranked sixth in homes being owner-occupied. In contrast, Tillman County was ranked second with 75.8% of total homes in the county being owner-occupied. Harper County ranked first with 78.4% of homes being owner-occupied. Okfuskee County ranked last regarding total homes that were owner-occupied (see Table 4).

Table 4

	T	otal Homes Owner-occupie	ed
County	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank
Atoka	73.4	0.31	5
Cimarron	72.9	0.24	7
Coal	74.0	0.39	3
Harmon	73.1	0.26	6
Harper	78.4	1.00	1
Hughes	72.8	0.22	8
Jefferson	72.1	0.12	9
Nowata	73.7	0.35	4
Okfuskee	71.2	0.00	10
Tillman	75.8	0.64	2

Total Homes Owner-Occupied in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma

Note. ^aThe scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C - \min)/(\max - \min)$

The Internet allows these counties to connect and potentially increase their capital. Table 5 displays the data for the internet subscription and broadband of any type for all rural, farmingdependent counties and were scaled as +1. Harmon County ranked first in households with an internet subscription with 75.1% of households with an internet subscription. Tillman County ranked second of the rural, farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma with 71.7% households with an internet subscription. Hughes County ranked last with 56.4% of households with an internet subscription. Harmon County had 74.7 of its households with internet subscription come from broadband of any type thus ranked number first out of all the counties analyzed. Tillman County ranked second on the same scale. Hughes county ranked 10th (see Table 5).

Table 5

Internet Subscription and Broadband Availability in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in

Oklahoma

	H an In	ouseholds wit ternet Subscri	h otion	Broad	lband of Any	Туре
County	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank
Atoka	68.4	0.64	3	68.3	0.73	3
Cimarron	63.5	0.38	9	63.5	0.54	9

Table 5 (continued)

Internet Subscription and Broadband Availability in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in

Oklahoma

	Ho	useholds with	l			
	an Inte	ernet Subscrip	tion	Broad	band of Any T	Гуре
County	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank
Coal	64.9	0.45	7	64.3	0.57	7
Harmon	75.1	1.00	1	74.7	1.00	1
Harper	66.8	0.56	4	66.3	0.65	5
Hughes	56.4	0.00	10	50.6	0.00	10
Jefferson	66.9	0.56	4	66.4	0.66	4
Nowata	64.2	0.42	8	63.8	0.55	8
Okfuskee	65.6	0.49	6	64.9	0.59	6
Tillman	71.7	0.82	2	71.0	0.85	2

Note. ^aThe scale ranged from 0 to 1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C - \min)/(\max - \min)$

Financial Capital

Financial capital provides insight into the financial assets a community possesses. Table 6 displays data regarding the poverty status of those living below the poverty level for the last twelve months and were scaled -1. Data were extracted from the U.S. Census Bureau (2019i). In 2019, Harmon County ranked first with the least amount of population under 18 years in poverty at 15.7% of this demographic in poverty. However, Tillman County ranked sixth out of the ten rural, farming-dependent counties in population under 18 years. In population 18 to 64 years in poverty, Harmon County (17.5%) ranked fourth and Tillman County (19.2) ranked fifth overall. Cimarron County (14.8%) had the least amount of 18 to 64-year-old population in poverty. In the 65 years and older population, Harmon County ranked first with only 4.4% of its citizens living in poverty. However, in the same age demographic Tillman County ranked sixth with 12% of its population in poverty (see Table 6).

Table 6

	Unc	ler 18 Ye	ars	18	to 64 Yea	ırs	65 Ye	ears and C	Older
County	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank
Atoka	26.9	0.39	5	20.7	0.46	8	12.6	0.37	7
Cimarron	24.5	0.52	4	14.8	1.00	1	13.0	0.34	8
Coal	31.9	0.12	8	19.8	0.54	7	16.3	0.09	9
Harmon	15.7	1.00	1	17.5	0.75	4	4.4	1.00	1
Harper	15.7	1.00	1	16.9	0.81	3	9.9	0.58	3
Hughes	29.7	0.24	7	21.1	0.42	9	9.1	0.64	2
Jefferson	34.1	0.00	9	19.3	0.59	6	11.3	0.47	5
Nowata	21.3	0.70	3	15.3	0.95	2	10.8	0.51	4
Okfuskee	34.1	0.00	9	25.7	0.00	10	17.5	0.00	10
Tillman	28.5	0.30	6	19.2	0.60	5	12.0	0.42	6

Poverty Status in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma

Note. The percentage is below the poverty level for 2019

^aThe scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $-1 \times (C - max)/(min-max)$

The mean annual income for the last twelve months recorded in 2019 is depicted in Table 7 and were scaled as a +1. Of all farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma, Harmon County ranked number one with the greatest annual income of \$65,261 followed by Cimarron County at \$64,782. Tillman County ranked eight with an annual income of \$56,552, and Okfuskee County was last at \$51,384 (see Table 7).

Table 7

Mean Annual Income of Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma

	Mean Annual Income				
County	Dollars	Scale ^a	Rank		
Atoka	58,846	0.54	6		
Cimarron	64,782	0.97	2		
Coal	59,996	0.62	5		
Harmon	65,261	1.00	1		
Harper	60,655	0.67	3		
Hughes	56,864	0.39	7		
Jefferson	60,666	0.67	3		
Nowata	54,856	0.25	9		
Okfuskee	51,384	0.00	10		
Tillman	56,552	0.37	8		

Table 7 (continued)

Mean Annual Income of Rural, Framing-dependent Counties in Oklahoma

		Mean Annual Income	
County	Dollar	Scale ^a	Rank

Note. Mean annual income is for household income for the past 12 months in 2019 inflation-

adjusted dollars.

^aThe scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C - \min)/(\max - \min)$

Taxable interest and ordinary dividends were scaled at a +1 because these demonstrate available financial capital. Taxable interest and ordinary dividends are depicted in Table 8. Harmon County ranked last for both taxable interest (\$256) and ordinary dividends (\$219) of all the rural, farming-dependent counties. Tillman County ranked fourth in both taxable interest (\$891) and ordinary dividends (\$1,139). Atoka County ranked first in taxable interest (\$1,816) and Hughes County ranked first in ordinary dividends (\$1,822) [see Table 8].

Table 8

Income and Tax Items in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklah	юта
--	-----

	Т	axable Interest	-	Orc	linary Dividen	ds
County	Dollars	Scale ^a	Rank	Dollars	Scale ^a	Rank
Atoka	1,816	1.00	1	832	0.38	6
Cimarron	517	0.17	9	463	0.15	8
Coal	624	0.24	8	419	0.12	9
Harmon	256	0.00	10	219	0.00	10
Harper	730	0.30	5	1,311	0.68	3
Hughes	1,424	0.75	2	1,822	1.00	1
Jefferson	697	0.28	6	506	0.18	7
Nowata	957	0.45	3	1,688	0.92	2
Okfuskee	685	0.28	6	896	0.42	5
Tillman	891	0.41	4	1,139	0.57	4

Note. Money amounts are in thousands of dollars and are based on population data

^a The scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C - \min)/(\max - \min)$

Natural Capital

Natural capital does not change easily, but it is an essential community capital. The natural capitals must be high to support agrarian communities and, as such, were scaled as +1. Natural amenities such as water availability through rainfall, water area, and irrigation are presented in Table 9 across all farming-dependent counties. In total, annual rainfall Coal County (47.5 inches) ranked first and Cimarron County (17.11 inches) ranked last. Harmon County ranked eight out of the ten counties with 23.55 inches of total annual rainfall for 2010 to 2020. Tillman County ranked seventh with 28.70 inches of total annual rainfall during the same time period. Harmon County (0.14%) ranked tenth for percent water area, and Tillman County (0.78%) ranked fifth in the same category. The county with the most water area was Nowata County at 2.74%. In agricultural land irrigated areas, Harmon ranked first with 7.12% and Tillman County (5.92%) ranked second. Jefferson County (0.14%) ranked tenth with the least amount of agricultural land in irrigated acres (see Table 9).

Table 9

Percentage of Water Availability through Rainfall, Water Area, and Irrigation in Rural, Farmingdependent Counties in Oklahoma

							Agrie	cultural La	nd
	Total A	Annual Rai	nfall	Wa	ater Area		Irri	gated Acre	s
County	Inches ^d	Scale ^a	Rank	Percent ^c	Scale ^a	Rank	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank
Atoka	43.79	0.88	3	1.18	0.40	3	0.23	0.03	7
Cimarron	17.11 ^{b c}	0.00	10	0.33	0.07	8	3.57	0.50	3
Coal	47.50 ^c	1.00	1	0.59	0.17	7	0.14	0.01	8
Harmon	23.55	0.21	8	0.14	0.00	10	7.12	1.00	1
Harper	21.43 ^c	0.14	9	0.19	0.02	9	0.65	0.09	4
Hughes	43.85 ^c	0.88	3	0.97	0.32	4	0.57	0.07	5
Jefferson	35.42 ^b	0.60	6	1.94	0.69	2	0.14	0.01	10
Nowata	46.33 ^c	0.96	2	2.74	1.00	1	0.04	0.00	8
Okfuskee	42.94 ^c	0.85	5	0.66	0.20	6	0.39	0.05	6
Tillman	28.79 ^{b c}	0.38	7	0.78	0.25	5	5.92	0.83	2

Note. ^a The scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C - \min)/(\max - \min)$

^b Average of multiple Mesonet sites within the county

^c Missing rainfall total annual accumulation for certain years

^d All water area is measured as a proportion to the total county area

^e Total annual rainfall for 2010 to 2020

Human Capital

Human capital depicts the skills and talents available within the counties. Population education attainment (scaled +1), population uninsured medically (scaled -1), and labor force participation rate (scaled +1) were all measured to determine the human capital. A high level of educational attainment is desired and is depicted in Tables 10 and 11. Harmon County ranked last in high school diploma or equivalent for 25 years and older (25.1%) and first for population 25 years or older with associate's degree or some college (33.9%) [see Table 10]. Additionally, Table 10 depicts Tillman County's population 25 years and older as ranking eight in both high school diploma or equivalent (33.4%), and associate's degree or some college (26.8%). In high school diploma or equivalent, Nowata County (44%) ranked number one and in associates degree or some college Coal County (23.7%) ranked tenth.

Table 10

Percentage of the Population's Education Attainment- High School Diploma or Equivalent and Associate Degree or some college Per Capita Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in

Oklahoma

	High School Diploma or Equivalent 25 Years and Older			Associate's Degree or some College 25 Years and Older		
County	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank
Atoka	40.3	0.80	4	28.0	0.42	6
Cimarron	36.0	0.58	7	24.2	0.05	9
Coal	41.6	0.87	2	23.7	0.00	10
Harmon	25.1	0.00	10	33.9	1.00	1
Harper	33.1	0.42	9	29.3	0.55	3
Hughes	40.3	0.80	4	28.9	0.51	4
Jefferson	41.4	0.86	3	27.0	0.32	7
Nowata	44.0	1.00	1	33.4	0.95	2
Okfuskee	39.6	0.77	6	28.3	0.45	5
Tillman	33.4	0.44	8	26.8	0.30	8
Harmon Harper Hughes Jefferson Nowata Okfuskee Tillman	25.1 33.1 40.3 41.4 44.0 39.6 33.4	0.00 0.42 0.80 0.86 1.00 0.77 0.44	10 9 4 3 1 6 8	33.9 29.3 28.9 27.0 33.4 28.3 26.8	1.00 0.55 0.51 0.32 0.95 0.45 0.30	1 3 4 7 2 5 8

Note. ^a The scale ranged from 0 to 1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C - \min)/(\max - \min)$

Table 11 depicts educational attainment for the 25 years and older population with a bachelor's degree and graduate or professional degrees. On that metric, Cimmaron County (18.4%) ranked first for the population with the greatest number of bachelor's degree, and Coal County (6.9%) ranked first for the population with the greatest number of graduate or professional degrees. Regarding bachelor's degree holders, Harmon County (15.9%) ranked second, and Tillman County (12.1%) ranked fourth. Regarding graduate degree or higher recipients, Harmon County (15.9) ranked fourth, and Tillman County (5.1%) ranked third (see Table 11).

Table 11

Percentage of the Population's Education Attainment- Bachelor's Degree and Graduate or

	Bachelor's Degree (%)			Graduate or Professional Degree			
	25	Years and Old	ler	25	25 Years and Older		
County	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank	
2							
Atoka	10.4	0.24	6	4.6	0.38	6	
Cimarron	18.4	1.00	1	4.4	0.32	7	
Coal	10.4	0.24	6	6.9	1.00	1	
Harmon	15.9	0.76	2	4.8	0.43	4	
Harper	13.9	0.57	3	5.4	0.59	2	
Hughes	8.2	0.03	9	4.7	0.41	5	
Jefferson	11.3	0.32	5	3.4	0.05	9	
Nowata	8.3	0.04	8	3.2	0.00	10	
Okfuskee	7.9	0.00	10	3.7	0.14	8	
Tillman	12.1	0.40	4	5.1	0.51	3	

Professional Degree Per Capita Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma

Note. ^a The scale ranged from 0 to 1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C - \min)/(\max - \min)$

As a measure of human capital, a low uninsured medical population was desired. Of the ten farming-dependent counties, Harper County (12.3%) ranked first with the fewest citizens uninsured. In comparison, Harmon County ranked third (15.2%), and Tillman County (15.3%) ranked fourth. The county with the most uninsured residents is Okfuskee County (23.6%) ranking tenth (see Table 12).

Table 12

Percentage of the Medically Uninsured Civilian Noninstitutionalized Population in Rural,

	Me	edically Uninsured Populat	ion
County	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank ^a
Atoka	17.0	0.58	5
Cimarron	14.8	0.78	2
Coal	23.2	0.04	9
Harmon	15.2	0.74	3
Harper	12.3	1.00	1
Hughes	19.6	0.35	8
Jefferson	17.7	0.52	7
Nowata	17.3	0.56	6
Okfuskee	23.6	0.00	10
Tillman	15.3	0.73	4

Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma

Note. ^a The scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $-1 \times (C - max)/(min-max)$

Regarding the labor force rate in these communities, Cimarron County (75.2%) ranked first with the most employed workers. Harmon County (71.7%) ranked third along with Harper County. In comparison, Tillman County (66.6%) ranked sixth regarding its labor forced participation rate (see Table 13).

Table 13

Labor Force Participation Rate Per Capita in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in

Oklahoma

	Population 20 to 64 Years				
County	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank		
Atoka	55.3	0.06	9		
Cimarron	75.2	1.00	1		
Coal	68.0	0.66	5		
Harmon	71.7	0.83	3		
Harper	71.7	0.83	3		
Hughes	54.0	0.00	10		
Jefferson	63.2	0.43	7		
Nowata	73.3	0.91	2		
Okfuskee	55.7	0.08	8		
Tillman	66.6	0.59	6		

Table 13 (continued)

Labor Force Participation Rate Per Capita in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in

Oklahoma

		Population 20 to 64 Years				
County	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank			

Note. ^a The scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C - \min)/(\max - \min)$

Social Capital

Table 14 depicts the social capitals that were present in the counties. Harmon and Tillman Counties both had social capital in their respective counties in the form of religious organizations, civic and social organization, business organizations and nonprofit organizations represented in total organizations. Harmon County (0.009) ranked third for total organizations per county population, and Tillman County (0.007) ranked fifth overall. In comparison, Cimarron County (0.014) ranked first, and Jefferson County (0.0045) ranked last regarding total organizations per county population (see Table 14).

Table 14

	Total Organizations per County Population					
County	Amount	Scale ^a	Rank			
Atoka	0.0047	0.02	8			
Cimarron	0.0140	1.00	1			
Coal	0.0060	0.16	6			
Harmon	0.0090	0.47	3			
Harper	0.0110	0.68	2			
Hughes	0.0046	0.01	9			
Jefferson	0.0045	0.00	10			
Nowata	0.0080	0.37	4			
Okfuskee	0.0048	0.03	7			
Tillman	0.0070	0.26	5			

Social Capital in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma

Note. Total organization per county includes religious organizations, civic and social

organization, business associations, professional organizations, fitness and recreational sports

centers, golf courses and country clubs, and non-profit organizations

^a The scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C - \min)/(\max - \min)$

Political Capital

Table 15 displays the political capitals available in the counties. Voter registration, census self-response rate, and political organizations were all assessed and scaled as +1. None of the counties featured in this study had political organizations, thus, they were all scaled and ranked at 0. Regarding voter registration, Cimarron County (94.0%) ranked first. In comparison, Harmon County (66.4%) ranked eighth, Tillman County (70.6%) ranked fifth, and Okfuskee County (61.8%) ranked last. Regarding the census response rate, Nowata County (52.0%) ranked first. In comparison, Harmon County (45.9%) ranked fifth, Tillman County (48.0%) ranked third, and Cimarron County (33.8%) ranked last (see Table 15).

Table 15

Population Political Capitals in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma

	Voter	Registra	tion	Census Se	lf-respons	e Rate	Political	l Organiza	ations
County	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank	Number	Scale ^a	Rank
Atoka	66.5	0.15	7	51.1	0.95	2	0	0.00	0
Cimarron	94.0	1.00	1	33.8	0.00	10	0	0.00	0
Coal	88.3	0.82	2	44.3	0.58	6	0	0.00	0
Harmon	66.4	0.14	8	45.9	0.66	5	0	0.00	0
Harper	67.8	0.19	6	44.3	0.58	6	0	0.00	0
Hughes	64.0	0.07	9	46.8	0.71	4	0	0.00	0
Jefferson	72.0	0.32	4	40.8	0.38	9	0	0.00	0
Nowata	72.6	0.34	3	52.0	1.00	1	0	0.00	0
Okfuskee	61.8	0.00	10	42.2	0.46	8	0	0.00	0
Tillman	70.6	0.27	5	48.0	0.78	3	0	0.00	0

Note. ^a The scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C - \min)/(\max - \min)$

Cultural Capital

Cultural capital existed in all the rural, faming-dependent counties in this study.

Language spoken (scaled -1), race (scaled +1), and family households (scaled +1) were chosen to represent the cultural capital as depicted in Tables 16, 17, and 18. In language spoken for population five years and older, English only speakers, Harmon County (80.6%) ranked first, and Tillman County (80.8%) ranked fourth. In comparison, Nowata County (97.9%) ranked last (see Table 16).

Table 16

Language Spoken for Population 5 Years and Older in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in

Oklahoma

_	English Only Speakers				
County	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank		
Atoka	96.6	0.07	9		
Cimarron	80.6	0.97	2		
Coal	95.9	0.11	8		
Harmon	80.0	1.00	1		
Harper	80.6	0.97	2		
Hughes	94.5	0.19	6		
Jefferson	94.9	0.17	7		
Nowata	97.9	0.00	10		
Okfuskee	93.9	0.22	5		
Tillman	80.8	0.96	4		

Note. ^a The scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $-1 \times (C - \max)/(\min - \max)$

Harmon and Okfuskee Counties (0.58) tied for first regarding the general variance of race and ethnicity present in their counties. In comparison, Tillman County (0.57) ranked second, and Cimarron County (0.36) ranked last (see Table 17).

Table 17

General Variance of Race and Ethnicity in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma

	Race and Ethnicity					
County	General Variance	Scale ^a	Rank			
Atoka	0.47	0.50	7			

Table 17 (continued)

	Race and Ethnicity				
County	General Variance	Scale ^a	Rank		
Cimarron	0.36	0.00	10		
Coal	0.49	0.59	6		
Harmon	0.58	1.00	1		
Harper	0.38	0.09	8		
Hughes	0.55	0.86	4		
Jefferson	0.38	0.09	8		
Nowata	0.52	0.73	5		
Okfuskee	0.58	1.00	1		
Tillman	0.57	0.95	3		

General Variance of Race and Ethnicity in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma

Note. Race and ethnicities included: White, Black or African American, American Indian or Alaska Native, Asian, Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander, Hispanic or Latino of any

race, some other race alone, and two or more races.

^a The scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C - \min)/(\max - \min)$

Regarding family households, Atoka County (69.2%) ranked first, Harmon County (68.2%) ranked fifth, Tillman County (66.9%) ranked seventh, and Cimarron County (61.3%) ranked last (see Table 18).

Table 18

Percent Family Households in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma

Family Households		
Percent	Scale ^a	Rank
69.2	1.00	1
61.3	0.00	10
65.5	0.53	8
68.2	0.87	5
64.1	0.35	9
67.2	0.75	6
68.3	0.89	4
69.1	0.99	2
	Percent 69.2 61.3 65.5 68.2 64.1 67.2 68.3 69.1	Family Households Percent Scale ^a 69.2 1.00 61.3 0.00 65.5 0.53 68.2 0.87 64.1 0.35 67.2 0.75 68.3 0.89 69.1 0.99
Table 18 (continued)

	Family Households					
County	Percent	Scale ^a	Rank			
Okfuskee	69.0	0.97	3			
Tillman	66.9	0.71	7			
Okfuskee Tillman	69.0 66.9	0.97 0.71	3 7			

Percent Family Households in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties in Oklahoma

Note. This percentage is of total households in individual counties not the county total population ^a The scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C - \min)/(\max - \min)$

Overall Capital Findings

Once scaled, all findings were averaged across the community capital indicators per capital and then averaged for each county. These findings are depicted in Tables 19 and 20. Regarding average built capital, Harper County ranked first, Tillman County ranked second, Harmon County ranked third, and Hughes County ranked last. Regarding average financial capital, Harper County ranked first, Harmon County ranked second, Tillman County ranked seventh, and Okfuskee County ranked last. In average natural capital, Nowata County ranked first, Tillman County ranked second, Harmon County tied with Coal County to rank sixth, and Harper County ranked last. In averaged human capital, Harper County ranked first, Harmon County ranked second, Tillman County ranked fifth, and Okfuskee County ranked last. Regarding average social capital, Cimarron County ranked first, Harmon County ranked third, Tillman County ranked fifth, and Jefferson County ranked last. Regarding political capital, Coal County ranked first, Harmon County ranked sixth, Tillman County ranked fourth, and Okfuskee County ranked first, Harmon County ranked sixth, Tillman County ranked fourth, and Okfuskee County ranked first, Harmon County ranked sixth, Tillman County ranked fourth, and Okfuskee County ranked tenth. In cultural capital, Harmon County ranked first, Tillman County ranked second, and Cimarron County ranked tenth (see Table 19).

Regarding overall community capitals, Harmon County ranked number one and had the highest average scale across all seven capitals. Tillman County ranked third across the seven

community capitals average scale. Okfuskee County ranked last (10th) out of all the rural, farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma on these same metrics (see Table 20).

Table 19

	Built Capital		Financial Capital		Natural Capital		Human Capital		Social Capital		Political Capital		Cultural Capital	
	Average		Average		Average		Average		Average		Average		Average	
County	Scale ^a	Rank												
Atoka	0.49	6	0.52	6	0.43	4	0.41	8	0.01	8	0.37	3	0.52	6
Cimarron	0.29	9	0.53	5	0.19	9	0.62	3	1.00	1	0.33	5	0.32	10
Coal	0.60	4	0.29	9	0.40	6	0.47	6	0.16	6	0.47	1	0.41	8
Harmon	0.63	3	0.63	2	0.40	6	0.63	2	0.47	3	0.27	6	0.96	1
Harper	0.75	1	0.67	1	0.08	10	0.66	1	0.68	2	0.25	8	0.47	7
Hughes	0.23	10	0.57	4	0.42	5	0.35	9	0.01	9	0.26	7	0.60	4
Jefferson	0.49	6	0.37	8	0.44	3	0.42	7	0.00	10	0.23	9	0.38	9
Nowata	0.48	8	0.63	2	0.65	1	0.58	4	0.37	4	0.45	2	0.57	5
Okfuskee	0.51	5	0.12	10	0.37	8	0.24	10	0.03	7	0.15	10	0.73	3
Tillman	0.69	2	0.45	7	0.49	2	0.50	5	0.26	5	0.35	4	0.87	2

Averaged Scaled and Ranked Community Capitals in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties

^a The scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C-\min)/(\max-\min)$

Table 20

	Overall Community (Overall Community Capitals			
County	Average Scale ^a	Rank			
Atoka	0.395	7			
Cimarron	0.469	5			
Coal	0.399	6			
Harmon	0.569	1			
Harper	0.511	4			
Hughes	0.350	8			
Jefferson	0.332	9			
Nowata	0.532	2			
Okfuskee	0.307	10			
Tillman	0.516	3			

Overall Community Capitals in Rural, Farming-dependent Counties

^a The scale ranged from 0 to +1, using the following formula = $+1 \times (C-min)/(max-min)$

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSIONS, IMPLICATIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Rural communities face a plethora of issues that threaten their livelihoods (Li et al., 2019). This study aimed to compare the community capitals present in Harmon and Tillman Counties in southwestern Oklahoma to similar, rural, farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma on metrics related to education, employment, population loss, persistent poverty, and persistent child poverty.

Although each of the counties featured in this study are similar in terms of being farmingdependent and rural, they are diverse in numerous ways. For instance, the size of these counties varies tremendously. Cimarron County (the largest of the farming-dependent counties) is three and one-half times bigger than Coal County (the smallest of the farming-dependent counties) regarding land area in acres per square mile. In addition, Atoka County (the most heavily populated farming-dependent county) is almost six and one-half times bigger than Cimarron County (the least populated farming-dependent county) regarding population. However, these counties were chosen due to their perceived needs as rural, non-metro, farming-dependent counties. In particular, Harmon and Tillman Counties have been communities that have been consistently high in persistent poverty (Bureau of Economic Analysis, 2020) and population decline (U.S. Census, 2019c). As such, the CCF was chosen as the lens to analyze these counties' assets, resources, and deficiencies. CCF was deemed a satisfactory framework to undergird the study because it allows researchers to assess all resources critical to a community's wellbeing (Emery & Flora, 2006; Gutierrez-Montes et al., 2009; Mattos, 2015). Fortunately, all seven capitals were observed in the rural, farming-dependent counties featured in this study. The results build on existing evidence that each community has access to various capital necessary for improving community wellbeing and economic vitality (Fernando & Goreham, 2018; Flora & Arnold, 2012; Flora & Flora, 2013; Zekeri, 2013). In addition, the use of CCF identified current resources available for development and improvement within the communities (Fernando & Goreham, 2018).

Fortunately, each of these farming-dependent counties has the potential to facilitate community development. A comparison of Harmon and Tillman Counties to the other rural, farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma, on each community capital, is provided below.

Built Capital

A lack of highway mileage stunts economic growth in Harmon and Tillman County (Chandra & Thompson, 2000; Hunter et al., 2020). The lack of improvement in this indicator of built capital could cause other capitals to spiral down because there would be limit access to basics services, transportation of foods and increased poverty (Sewell et al., 2019; Chandra & Thompson, 2000; Hunter et al., 2020).

The relatively low portion of owner-occupied homes in Harmon County has the potential to lead to dilapidated homes because there are no residents in the homes maintaining, or improving, utilities (i.e., heating, cooling, and sanitation systems), and paying taxes on the homes (Morton et al., 2014; Skobba et al., 2019). The amount of owner-occupied homes in Tillman

County can be perceived as citizens making a positive impact on their community, which would resonate with research by Sawicki and Flynn (1996).

Communication infrastructure is important to both Harmon and Tillman Counties because both counties have built resiliency by citizens having access to internet within the homes and of the internet a majority of that is broadband of any type (Ashmore et al., 2017; Marshall et al., 2020). The communication infrastructure within Harmon County allowed the county to rank third overall for built capital. The same conclusion is drawn for Tillman County; communication infrastructure is providing a way for the citizens in these counties to access information, work, education, medical and other services (Fox & Porca, 2011). The quantity of communication infrastructure may increase the value of other capitals through the ability to access resources not present within the communities and allow for the flow of ideas back into the community.

Without the built infrastructure present in these counties, Harmon and Tillman, their communities could be more susceptible to external stresses (Ashmore et al., 2017; Marshall et al., 2020), the lowering of the quality of life (Flora et al., 2016; Ringwood, 2017) and economic health (Flora et al., 2016).

Financial Capital

Regarding financial capital, Harmon and Tillman Counties are in persistent poverty and persistent child poverty, according to the Economic Research Service (2017). The measures for this study were taken over 12 months and were not a longitudinal study. Therefore, the results will be different than the ERS Typography Codes. Harmon County has relatively high indicator measures for poverty status across multiple age demographics, i.e., low poverty rates, and high mean annual income. These two indicators work in tandem. The ability of Harmon County residents to have high income leads to a lower their poverty rates. The higher ranking in poverty status and mean annual income could be because of the utilization of other capitals present within

the community such as the skills and education within human capital. Community capitals do not work independently but impact one another (Fernando & Goreham, 2018; Pigg et al., 2013). Better homes and businesses are developed through high financial capital (Flora et al., 2016). Harmon County does rank relatively low in financial capital present in terms of taxable interest and ordinary dividends. This could lead to consequences within the community such as less ability to invest in development projects.

Placing of seventh out of the ten rural, farming-dependent counties, Tillman County could face potential problems in sustaining community development projects, rural business, and entrepreneurship opportunities (Flora et al., 2016; Joo, 2011; Marshall & Samal, 2006).

Natural Capital

Communities without natural capital will have difficulty increasing other capitals (Fey et al., 2006; Flora et al., 2016) and fostering economic development (Crowe, 2008; Mueller & Tickamyer, 2020). A lack of natural capital has the potential to hinder community development now and in the future. Regarding natural capital, Harmon and Tillman Counties are classified as rural, farming-dependent counties that thrive on agriculture as their major industry and livelihood. Production agriculture is heavily impacted by water availability. However, Harmon and Tillman Counties are two of the most arid counties based on annual rainfall and total water availability when compared to the other rural, farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma. As a result, these two counties are drought-prone and vulnerable to stretches of long periods without adequate rainfall, which can have detrimental effects on the communities' vitality (Witt, 1997). Such hardships can contribute to the devastation of crops, livestock, and water access and supplies (Logan et al., 2010; Witt, 1997). Natural resources are critical in the development of a community (Zaman, 2015) because they have implications for citizens' livelihoods and can lead to the community's financial capital, or lack thereof (Flora et al., 2016). Fortunately, Harmon and

Tillman Counties both possess the highest amounts of irrigated acres of agricultural land when compared to the other farming-dependent counties, thus, partially offsetting the lack of consistent rainfall.

Human Capital

Regarding human capital, Harmon and Tillman Counties ranked above a majority of other rural, farming-dependent counties regarding citizens who hold bachelor and graduate or professional degrees. This indicates people in these two counties value education, which is a tool that can be used to increase the employability and overall livelihoods and wellbeing of community citizens (Becker, 1964; Schutlz, 1971). Based on the investment these citizens have made in their human capital, it appears they have the capacity to make substantial, positive changes to their communities, especially when compared to the other farming-dependent counties in the state. The existence of necessary human capital within the counties can improve their ability to obtain quality health care (Inagami et al., 2016), economic efficiency, and additional education (Marrocu & Paci, 2012), if desired.

In addition, Harmon and Tillman Counties have the ability to maintain the health of their residents because they have a lower amount of citizens without medical insurance when compared to other farming-dependent counties. Citizens in Harmon and Tillman Counties have insurance to cover the cost of medical care; however, this does not solve other potential problems related to health care for rural communities such as qualification and quality of health care professionals, and proximity to health care facilities as described by other researchers (Inagami et al., 2016); Nelson et al., 2021; Zhao et al., 2019).

These human capital skills and knowledge accessed through education attainment, health, and labor force, will be critical in the development of communities and increase its economic capacity (Mattos, 2015; Schultz, 1971; Sweetwater, 1996; Tajuddin, 2011; Zaman, 2015). These

skills and knowledge are being accessed, but further increasing these human capital indicators could benefit Harmon and Tillman Counties substantially.

Social Capital

Harmon County scored high in its available social capital when compared to other farming-dependent counties, indicating an ability to create bonds and relationships that rally the community together around a cause. This conclusion resonates with findings by Tajuddin (2011) who found that social capital is usually strong and present in rural communities. However, Tillman County, in comparison, scored in the middle of the pack regarding farming-dependent counties. Therefore, it can be implied that Tillman County has potential for uniting its citizens for a cause; however, it might not be as efficient at doing so as other farming-dependent counties in the state.

Political Capital

It can be concluded that high variation exists regarding political capital in these farmingdependent counties. Specifically, a 32% difference exists between citizens who are registered to vote in Cimarron County (94%) compared to Okfuskee County (61.8%). Eight of the ten counties have less than 75% of their citizens registered to vote. Further, because there are no active political organizations in any of the farming-dependent counties featured in this study, it can be concluded that citizens in these farming-dependent counties may lack capacity to effectively work together for policies that are important to their local communities.

Cultural Capital

Harmon and Tillman Counties have two of the lowest proportions of English-speaking residents when compared with the other farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma. As such, these two counties have a higher amount of diversity present regarding preferred spoken language when compared to other similar counties. In addition, they tend to be more racially and ethnically diverse as well, which is positive because communities benefit greatly from a diverse citizenry (Sizemore, 2004). A high cultural capital is potentially caused by the presence of diverse human capital through the migration of a labor force into a community. Neither Harmon or Tillman County ranked high in the percentage of family households, which suggests that family and local community values may not be passed down to future generations as effectively in these counties as in others (Flora et al., 2016).

When comparing all farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma across all capitals in the CCF, Harmon and Tillman Counties ranked first and third, respectfully. Therefore, although these two counties are consistently ranked at the bottom in the ERS typologies because of persistent levels of poverty and high levels of outmigration (ERS, 2017), there is hope for renewal. It can be implied that the reason the rankings of these two counties contradict those of other studies are due to the fact that this study employed the CCF framework, instead of the ERS Typology Codes, which used different metrics to measure and evaluate these farming-dependent counties. It is encouraging that these two counties have the necessary, available, and potential capital for renewal efforts to ensue. However, helping these two communities identify, develop, and use their existing capitals will be imperative to their renewal success.

Recommendations for Practice

The findings of this study should be shared with the RRI research team at Oklahoma State University as they seek to highlight and address various wicked rural problems in Oklahoma and across the world (Oklahoma State University, 2021a). Understanding the rankings of these farming-dependent counties can assist the RRI research team in developing grant proposals and legislative policy to improve the wellbeing and economic vitality in these counties.

In addition, these findings should be shared with elected county officials (i.e., county commissioners), civic leaders, and the general public in these farming-dependent counties so that

appropriate measures can be taken to enact necessary changes to address the issues highlighted in the study. Specifically, regarding the study's findings, county leaders in these farming-dependent counties, and Harmon and Tillman Counties in particular, should work together to consider alternative avenues for improving their communities' general appeal and ability to attract new businesses, improve the community wellbeing of its citizens, and increase the overall economic vitality of its community, especially since they are disadvantaged in total miles of highway per square mile when compared to their other farming-dependent county counterparts and cannot benefit from the ease of transfer of goods and services (Chandra & Thompson, 2000; Hunter et al., 2020) like others can.

In particular, it is recommended that decision makers in Harmon and Tillman Counties help citizens in those communities brainstorm ways to increase their economy through the use of their high-speed internet service, as such capital has the potential to allow rural citizens to communicate, acquire information, work remotely, and access services such as education and medical care (Fox & Porca, 2001). High-speed internet service in these two communities is a strength that can potentially benefit other capital, especially human, financial, and social.

Regarding human capital, efforts should be devoted to increasing the number of high school graduates and postsecondary educational attainment of community citizens living in these rural-dependent counties. Specifically, it is recommended that school officials at secondary schools and surrounding community colleges work jointly to develop programs where students may earn advanced credits by being dually enrolled as a college student while in high school. Offering such programs may motivate additional students to attain advanced degrees.

Finally, it is recommended that efforts be devoted to improving the political presence and interest in Harmon and Tillman Counties. One way to increase participation and representation is through civic clubs (Zaman, 2015). Therefore, these two counties should be encouraged to

revamp and reintroduce civic clubs and organizations to their communities to increase the overall social capital and leadership capacity that exists there. It is also recommended youth be included in these leadership development efforts as they tend to be more innovative and open, which can positively impact the vitality of a community (Marrocu & Paci, 2012).

Recommendations for Research

A strength for Harmon and Tillman Counties in particular is their diversity. However, research is needed to determine how or if these counties are benefiting from their diversity. Are various ethnicities represented in leadership organizations? Future research in needed.

Finding ways to help communities increase the percentage of owner-occupied homes, particularly in Harmon County, appears to be a need. The condition of homes in these rural communities varies greatly, and some are dilapidated and in need of varying levels of repair (Housing Assistance Council, 2012; QutbAldeen, 2020). This study also failed to assess the number of vacant homes in these counties. As such, future research should be conducted to create an inventory of all houses in these communities and their quality. Once conducted, a map of the status of the homes could be created and shared with developers who desire to demolish vacated, dilapidated homes, or build new ones, in these communities.

Another strength for both Harmon and Tillman Counties is their access to high-speed internet. Continued research of technological infrastructure is needed to understand the rural broadband availability, accessibility, and use in these communities (Ashmore et al., 2017; Marshall et al., 2020). Understanding of this built capital might lead to greater resiliency within these communities. Specifically, how high-speed internet is being used in these communities is important to identify. Understanding the gaps and deficiencies in technological usage would allow for professional development of citizens regarding their technological aptitude. Specifically, youth should be taught how to use high-speed internet for developing entrepreneurial business ventures as a means for increasing their financial capital.

Financial capital provides local governments with the ability to invest in public and private capital with the intention that community members can establish and maintain businesses (Flora et al., 2016; Monier, 2011). However, with so little tax revenue being produced by existing firms and individuals in these places, efforts should be devoted to helping people consider becoming entrepreneurs, particularly utilizing the high-speed internet access in Harmon and Tillman Counties. To that end, curriculum and training are needed to provide youth and other interested individuals with entrepreneurship skills and education necessary for novel business start-up projects. Helping people, especially youth, identify potential businesses they can operate and manage could contribute to the economic vitality of these small, rural, farming-dependent communities. Such preparation also contributes to the human capital of the communities by increasing the knowledge, skills, and experiences of the community (Becker, 1964; Lepak & Snell, 1999; Mattos, 2015; Schultz, 1971; Sweetwater, 1996). Further research could be conducted to determine the relationship between financial capital and human capital within rural communities.

Both Harmon and Tillman Counties benefit from higher rates of diversity when compared to the other farming-dependent counties. However, this study failed to determine the representation of such diversity regarding local leadership positions. Additional research is needed in this area. It is recommended new civic leaders in these two counties be developed throughout all racial and ethnic groups. Ensuring all voices are heard contributes positively to the wellbeing of a community (Flora et al., 2016; Ringwood, 2017). The development of this diverse leadership will allow for Harmon and Tillman Counties to utilize their high cultural capital. As such, future studies should determine the degree to which ethnic and racial diversity are present in civic groups and decision-making circles. Further, it is recommended research determine how decisions are enacted in these two counties. Once identified, additional research should determine if these decisions are in the best interest of all citizens. For example, is it possible one race or

ethnicity is underrepresented among the decision-making leadership groups in the communities? If so, is it also possible the decisions made may actually impede growth in the counties? Research should be conducted to answer these questions. Regardless, it is recommended attempts be made in these two counties for inclusiveness in the various decision-making processes.

Finally, additional research is needed to compare the farming-dependent counties featured in this study to others across the region and U.S. to determine the similarities and differences that exist. Is it possible the needs of farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma are the same as others across the nation? If so, perhaps RRI should work to create a model that might be scalable to other rural communities wishing to improve their livelihoods and overall wellbeing (Flora et al., 2016; Schmidt & Severson, 2021). If the farming-dependent counties in Oklahoma are found to be distinctly different than others across the nation, perhaps policy efforts could be developed to help all farming-dependent counties leverage the capital (i.e., assets) they have with others in various states for greater overall revitalization. Regardless, such comparisons might increase awareness of deficits experienced in rural communities and provide opportunities to leverage needs with legislators for greater distribution of funds from the federal government to improve the livelihoods and renew rural farming-dependent communities.

REFERENCES

- Agnistch, K. A. (2003). Locating community social capital: A study of social networks and community action (Publication No. 3085886) [Doctoral dissertation, Iowa State University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Ahearn, M., Bentley, S., & Carlin, T. (1988). Farming-dependent counties and the financial well-being of farm operator households. *Economic Research Service: Agricultural Information Bulletin, 544*, 1-17. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED297185.pdf
- Alam, M. M., Mohd Ikhwan, T., Siwar, C., & Talib, B. (2011). Rainfall variation and changing pattern of agricultural cycle. *Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 7(1), 82-89. https://doi.org/10.3844/ajessp .2011.82.89
- Amcroft, J., & Westholm, E. (2007). Understanding rural change-demography as a key to the future. *Futures*, *39*(4), 363-379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2006.08.009
- American Community Survey. (2019). *Accuracy of Data (2019)*. https://www2.census.gov/programssurveys/acs/tech_docs/accuracy/ACS_Accuracy_of_Data_2019.pdf
- Anderson, T. J., Saman, D. M., Lipsky, M. S., & Lutfiyya, M. N. (2015). A cross-sectional study on health differences between rural and non-rural U.S. counties using the County Health Rankings. *BMC Health Serivces Research*, 15(1), 441-449. https://doi.10.1186/s12913-015-1053-3

- Ashley, A., & Touchton, M. (2016). Reconceiving military base redevelopment: Land use on mothballed U.S. bases. *Urban Affairs Review*, *52*(3), 391-420. https://doi.1077/1078087414568028
- Ashmore, F. H., Farrington, J. H., & Skerratt, S. (2017). Community-led broadband in rural digital infrastructure development: Implications for resilience. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 54, 408-425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2016.09.004
- Babaei, H., Ahmad, N., & Gill, S. S. (2012). Bonding, bridging and linking social capital and empowerment among squatter settlements in Tehran, Iran. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, *17*(1), 119-126. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/229088265_Bonding_Bridging _and_Linking_Social_Capital_andEmpowerment_Among_Squatter_Settlements_in_Tehran_Iran
- Bauch, P. (2001). School-community partnerships in rural schools: Leadership, renewal, and a sense of place. *Journal of Education*, 76(2), 204-221. https://www.jstor.org/stable/1493234
- Beaven, M. (2014). Hydraulic fracturing as technological hazard: Applying the community capitals framework to stakeholder narratives in an oil and gas community (Publication No. 10181193)
 [Thesis, Oklahoma State University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Becker, G. S. (1964). *Human capital: A theoretical and empirical analysis, with special reference to education*. University of Chicago Press.
- Belanche, D., Casalo, L.V., & Rubio, M. A. (2021). Local place identity: A comparison between residents of rural and urban communities. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 82, 242-252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2021.01.003
- Besser, T. L., Recker, N., & Agnitsch, K. (2008). The impact of economic shocks on quality of life and social capital in small towns. *Rural Sociology*, 73(4), 580-604. https://doi.org/10.1526/003601108786471530

- Bhandari, P., & Ghimire, D. (2016). Rural agricultural change and individual out-migration. *Rural Sociology*, 81(4), 572-600. https://doi.org/10.1111/ruso.12106
- Birge, T., & Herzon, I. (2019). Exploring cultural acceptability of hypothetical results-based agrienvironment payment for grassland biodiversity. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 67, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1016./j.jrustud.2019.02.006
- Brock, F. V., Crawford, K. C., Elliot, R. L., Cuperus, G. W., Stadler, S. J., Johnson, H. L., & Eilts, M. D. (1995). The Oklahoma mesonet: A technical overview. *Journal of Atmospheric and Oceanic Technology*, *12*, 1, 5-19. https://doi.org/10.1175/15200426(1995)012<0005:TOMATO>2.0.CO;2
- Brotsky, C., Eisinger, S., & Vinokur-Kaplan, D. (2019). *Shared space and the new non-profit workplace*. Oxford University Press.
- Brown, D. L., & Kandel, W. A. (2006). Rural America through a demographic lens. *Population Change* and Rural Society. https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-3902-6_1
- Brown, D. L., & Schafft, K. A. (2011). Rural people and communities in the 21st century: Resilience and transformation. Polity Press.
- Budescu, D. V., & Budescu, M. (2012). How to measure diversity when you must. *Psychological Methods*. 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027129
- Bureau of Economic Analysis. (2020). Gross domestic product by county, 2019. https://www.bea.gov/sites/default/files/2020-12/lagdp1220_2.pdf
- Burton, R. J. F., & Wilson, G. A. (2006). Injecting social psychology theory into conceptualisations of agricultural agency: Towards a post-productivist farmer self identify? *Journal of Rural Studies*, 22(1), 95-115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2005.07.004

- Callaghan, E. G., & Colton, J. (2008). Building sustainable and resilient communities: A balancing of community capitals. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, (10)6, 931-342. https://doi.10.1007/s10668-007-9093-4
- Carr, P. J., & Kefalas, M. J. (2009). *Hollowing out the middle: The rural brain drain and what it means for America*. Beacon Press.
- Chandra, A., & Thompson, E. (2000). Does public infrastructure affect economic activity? Evidence from the rural interstate highway system. *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, 30(4), 457-490. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-0462(00)00040-5
- Chowdhury, R. R. (2008). The effects of federal farm support programs on farm consolidation and rural economy: A county-level analysis. (Publication No. 1460099) [Master's thesis, University of Delaware]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Christenson, J. A. (1984). Gemeinschaft and Gesellschaft: Testing the spatial and communal hypotheses. *Social Forces*, 63(1), 106-168. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/63.1.160
- Church, R. M. (2002). The effective use of secondary data. *Learning and Motivation*, *33*(1), 32-45. https://doi.org/10.1006/lmot.2001.1098

Climadat (2021). SRCC's climate information data portal. https://climdata.srcc.lsu.edu/

- Cofre-Bravo, G., Klerkx, L., & Engler, A. (2019). Combinations of bonding, bridging and linking social capital for farm innovation: How farmers configure different support networks. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 69, 53-64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2019.04.004
- Corbett, M. (2014). From Shinjuku to River John: The neo-liberal juggernaut, efficiency, and small rural schools. Alberta Journal of Educational Research, (60)4, 619-628. https://journalhosting.ucalgary.ca/index.php/ajer/article/view/56121

- Cromartie, J., Breneman, V. E., Parker, T. S., & Nulph, D. (2011). Mapping population and economic trends in rural and small-town America. *Amberwaves*, 9(1), 34-37. https://doi.10.22004/ag.econ.121249
- Crowe, J. (2008). The role of natural capital on the pursuit and implementation of economic development. *Sociological Perspectives*, *51*(4), 827-851. https://doi.org/10.1525/sop.2008.51.4.827
- Crowell, C. D. (2008). Asset mapping a tool in economic development and community revitalization: A case study of New Richmond, Ohio. (Publication No.1471095) [Master's thesis, University of Cincinnati]. ProQuest Dissertation and Theses Global.
- de Guzman, M. R. T., Kim, S., Taylor, S., & Padasas, I. (2020). Rural communities as a context for entrepreneurship: Exploring perceptions of youth and business owners. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 80, 45-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2020.06.036
- Deller, S. C., Gould, B. W., & Jones, B. (2003). Agriculture and rural economic growth. *Journal of Agriculture and Applied Economics*, *35*(3), 517-527. https://doi:10.1017/S107407080002825X
- Dunn-Young, F. A. (2012). A community capitals approach to assessing immigrant access to community resources within a meatpacking community (Publication No. 15314180 [Master's theses, IowaState University]. ProQuest Dissertation and Theses Global.
- Dimitri, C., Effland, A., & Conklin, N. (2005). The 20th century transformation of U.S. Agriculture and Farm Policy. *Economic Research Service: Economic Information Bullet*, 3, 1-17. https://doi.10.22004/ag.econ.59390
- Dinda, S. (2008). Social capital in the creation of human capital and economic growth: A productive consumption approach. *Journal of Socio-Economics*, 37(5), 2020-2033. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2007.06.014

- Devadoss, S., & Luckstead, J. (2011). Implications of immigrant policies for the U.S. farm sector and workforce. *Economic Inquiry*, 49(3), 857-875. https://doi.argo.library.okstate.edu/10.1111/j.1465-7295.2010.00300.x
- Drabenstott, M. (2015). Do farm payments promote rural economic growth? *Ag Decision Maker Newsletter*, *9*(6), 1-5. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/agdm/vol9/iss6/2
- Emery, M., & Flora, C. (2006). Spiraling-up: Mapping community transformation with community capitals framework. *Journal of the Community Development Society*, 37(1), 19-35. https://doi.10.1080/15575330609490152
- Eppley, K. (2010). Picturing rural America: An analysis of the representation of contemporary rural America in picture books for children. *Rural Educator*, *32*(1), 110. https://doi.10.35608/ruraled.v32i1.433
- Economic Research Service. (1999). *Natural amenities scale*. United States Department of Agriculture. https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/natural-amenities-scale/

Economic Research Service. (2017). 2015 County typology codes: Documentation.

- Economic Research Service. (2018, October 9). *Rural economies dependent on business*. https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/chart-gallery/gallery/chart-detail/?chartId=58290
- Economic Research Service. (2019, October 23). *Descriptions and maps: County economic types, 2015 edition.* https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/county-typology-codes/descriptions-andmaps.aspx#farming
- Economic Research Service. (2020). *Percent change in population, 2010-19: Oklahoma*. https://data.ers.usda.gov/reports.aspx?ID=17827

Economic Research Service. (2021). Percent of total population in poverty, 2019: Oklahoma. https://data.ers.usda.gov/reports.aspx?ID=17826

Economic Research Service. (2021a). *State fact sheet: Oklahoma*. https://data.ers.usda.gov/reports.aspx?StateFIPS=40&StateName=Oklahoma&ID=17854

- Edwards, R. (2012). Gympie country music Muster: Creating a cultural economy from local tradition. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 28(4), 517-527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2012.06.006
- Fennell, D. A., & Weaver, D. B. (1997). Vacation farms and ecotourism in Saskatchewan, Canada. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 13(4), 467-475. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0743-0167(97)00032-6
- Fernando, F. N., & Goreham, G. A. (2018). A tale of two rural cities: Dynamics of community capitals during a North Dakota oil boom. *Community Development*, 49(3), 274-291. https://doi.10.1080/15575330.2018.1467474
- Fey, S., Breghendahl, C., & Flora, C. (2006). The measure of community capitals through research. Online Journal of Rural Research & Policy 1(1), 1-28. https://doi.org/10.4148/ojrrp.v1i1.29
- Filkins, R., Allen, J. C., & Cordes, S. (2000). Predicting community satisfaction among rural residents: An integrative model. *Journal Series No. 12451*. Lincoln: Agricultural Research Division, University of Nebraska.
- Flora, C., & Arnold, N. (2012). Community development. State of the science report. The University of Montana Research and Training Center on Disability in Rural Communities.

Flora, C., & Flora, J. L. (2008). Rural communities: Legacy and change (3rd ed.). Westview Press.

- Flora, C., & Flora, J. L. (2013). Rural communities: Legacy and change (4th ed.). Westview Press.
- Flora, C. B., Flora, J. L., & Gasteyer, S. P. (2016). Rural communities: Legacy and change (5th ed.). Westview Press.

- Fitz, S. M., Boren, A. E., Trudeau, D., & Wheeler, D. W. (2007). Low resources in a high stakes game: Identifying viable rural community partners. *Journal of Extension*, 45(4). https://www.joe.org/joe/2007august/rb2.shtml
- Foreman, B., & Nelson, J. (2021, January 11). Let's begin a conversation about the church in rural areas. *Baptist News Global.* https://baptistnews.com/article/lets-begin-a-conversation-about-the-churchin-rural-areas/#.YGrskshKjcs
- Fox, W. F., & Porca, S. (2001). Investing in rural infrastructure. *International Regional Science Review*, 24(1), 103-133. https://doi.org/10.1177/016001701761012971
- Galbreath, A. (2017). *Exploring tourism opportunities through homestay/homeshare*. (Publication No. 10277204) [Thesis, Clemson University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Gibson, R., Barrett, J., & Vodden, K. (2014). Fostering sustainable futures for rural community and regions through philanthropy. Institute of Non-Profit Studies of Mount Royal University and Leslie Harris Centre for Regional Policy and Development of Memorial University of Newfoundland.
- Gladwin, C. H., Long, B. F., Babb, E. M., Beaulieu, J., Moseley, A., Mulkey, D., & Zimet, D. J. (1990).
 Rural entrepreneurship: One key to rural revitalization. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics* 71(5), 1305-1314. https://doi.org/10.2307/1243127
- Glasgow, N. (2012). Is rural America dying? A snapshot of retirement trends and 'natural decrease.' *Aging Today*, 33(4), 7-9. https://search.proquest.com/docview/1024156857/fulltextPDF /B3E23BEFC0C4437FPQ/1?accountid=4117
- Glasgow, N., & Brown, D. L. (2012). Rural ageing in the United States: Trends and contexts. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 28(4), 422-431. https://doi.org/10.1016.j.jrurstud.2012.01.002

Gutierrez-Montes, I. A. (2005). Healthy communities equal healthy ecosystems? Evolution (and breakdown) of a participatory ecological research project towards a community natural resource management process, San Miguel Chimalapa (Mexico) (Publication number 3200422) [Doctoral dissertation, Iowa State University]. ProQuest Dissertation and Theses Global.

Gutierrez-Montes, I., Emery, M., & Fernandez-Baca, E. (2009). The sustainable livelihoods approach and the community capitals framework: The importance of system-level approaches to community change efforts. *Community Development*, 40(2), 106-113. https://doi.10.1080/15575330903011785

- Henness, S., Ball, A. L., & Moncheski, M. (2013). A community development approach to servicelearning: Building social capital between rural youth and adults. *New Directions for Youth Development, 138*, 75-96. https://doi.10.002/yd.20059
- Hotchkiss, J. L. (2019). U.S. decennial census return rates: The role of social capital. *International Journal of Social Economics*, 46(2), 648-668. https://doi.10.1108/IJSE-07-2018-0377
- Housing Assistance Council. (2012). Taking stock: Rural people, poverty, and housing in the 21st century. Washington, DC, Housing Assistance Council. http://www.ruralhome.org/storage /documents/ts2010/ts_full_report.pdf
- Hox, J. J., & Boeije, H. R. (2005). Data collection, primary vs. secondary. Encyclopedia of Social Measurement. Academic Press.
- Hui Siang, T. (2017) Identifying opportunities for Latino bi-cultural entrepreneurship in Iowa: A community capitals approach to economic development (Publication No. 10642526) [Doctoral dissertation, Iowa State University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.

- Hunter, L. M., Talbot, C. B., Connor, D. S., Counterman, M., Uhl, J. H., Gutmann, M. P., & Leyk, S. (2020). Change in U.S. small town community capitals, 1980-2010. *Population Research and Policy Review*, 39, 913-940. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11113-020-09609-4
- Inagami, S., Gao, S., Karimi, H., Shendge, M. M., Probst, J. C., & Stone, R. A. (2016). Adapting the index of relative rurality (IRR) to estimate rurality of the zip code level: A rural classification system in health services research. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 32(2), 219-227. https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12148
- Internal Revenue Service. (2011). SOI sampling methodology and data limitations. 375-377. https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-soi/sampling.pdf
- Internal Revenue Service. (2018). *County and metro area data tax year 2018 documentation guide*. County Income Data User Guide and Record Layouts, 1-9. https://www.irs.gov/statistics/soi-tax-stats-county-data-2018
- Internal Revenue Service. (2021a, February 16). SOI tax states-Purpose and function of statistics of income (SOI) program. https://www.irs.gov/statistics/soi-tax-stats-purpose-and-function-ofstatistics-of-income-soi-program
- Internal Revenue Service. (2021b, March 17). SOI tax stats county data 2018. https://www.irs.gov/statistics/soi-tax-stats-county-data-2018
- Jacobs, C. (2007). Measuring success in communities: Understanding the community capitals framework. Community Capitals Series # 1, Extension Extra. South Dakota State University Cooperative Extension Service
- Jacquet, J. B., Gutherie, E., & Jackson, H. (2016). Swept out: Measuring rurality and migration intentions on the upper Great Plains. *Rural Sociology*, 82(4), 601-627. https://doi.org/10.1111/ruso.12145

- Jackson-Smith, D. B., & Jensen, E. (2009). Finding farms: Comparing indicators of farming dependence on agricultural importance in the United States. *Rural Sociology*, 74(1), 37-55. https://doi.10.1526/003601109787524016
- Jensen, L. (2006). New immigrant settlements in rural American: problems, prospects and policies. *Report on Rural America*, 1(3). https://scholars.unh.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1016&context=carsey
- Joo, H. (2011). Comparative analysis of rural and urban start-up entrepreneurs. [Master's thesis, University of Kentucky]. Thesis and Dissertation-Agricultural Economics. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/agecon_etds/1
- Kandel, W., & Cromartie, J. (2004). New pattern of Hispanic settlement in rural America. Rural Development Research Report, No. 60. https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/47077/rdrr-99.pdf?v=0
- Kassel, K., & Carlin, T. (1999). Economic growth in farming areas lags the rest of rural America. *Rural Conditions Trends, 10*(2), 10-16. https://ers.udsa.publications/RCAT/RCAT102C.PDF
- Kilkenny, M., & Partridge, M. D. (2009). Export sector and rural development. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, *91*(4), 910-929. https://doi.10.1111/j.1467-8276.2009.01320.x
- Kindell, H. S. (2009). Coming of age in rural America: The educational and occupational outcomes of rural young adults. (Publication No. 3380938) [Doctoral dissertation, Penn State University].
 ProQuest Dissertations and Thesis Global.
- Kline, C., McGehee, N., & Delconte, J., (2018). Built capital as a catalyst for community-based tourism. *Journal of Travel Research*, 58(6), 899-915. https://doi.10.1177/0047287518787935

- Korsgaard, S., Muller, S., & Tanvig, H. W. (2015). Rural entrepreneurship or entrepreneurship in the rural- between place and space. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research*, 21(1), 5-26. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEBR-11-2013-0205
- Lee, B. A., & Sharp, G. (2017). Ethnoracial diversity across the rural-urban continuum. The Annuals of the American Academy of Political and Social Sciences, 672(1), 26-45. https://doi.10.1177/0002716217708560
- Lehtonen, O. (2021). Primary school closures and population development-is school vitality an investment in the attractiveness of the (rural) communities or not? *Journal of Rural Studies*, 82, 138-147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2021.01.011
- Lepak, D. P., & Snell, S. A. (1999). The human resource architecture: Toward a theory of human capital allocation and development. *The Academy of Management Review*, 24(1), 31-48. https://10.5465/AMR.1999.1580439
- Li, Y., Westlund, H., & Liu, Y. (2019). Why some rural areas decline while some others not: An overview of rural evolution in the world. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 68, 135-143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2019.03.003
- Lichter, D. T. (2012). Immigration and the new racial diversity in rural America. *Rural Sociology*, 77(1), 3-35. https://doi.10.1111/j.1549-0831.2012.00070.x
- Lichter, D. T., & Johnson, K. M. (2006). Emerging rural settlement patterns and the geographic redistribution of America's new immigrants. *Rural Sociology*, 71(1), 109-131. https://10.1526/003601106777789828

- Links, J. M., Schwartz, B. S., Lin, S., Kanarek, N., Mitrani-Reiser, J., Sell, T. K., Watson, C. R., Ward, D., Slemp, C., Burhans, R., Gill, K., Igusa, T., Zhao, X., Aguirre, B., Trainor, J., Nigg, J., Inglesby, T., Carbone, E., & Kendra, J. M. (2018). Copewell: A conceptual framework and system dynamics model for predicating community functioning and resilience after disasters. *Society for Disaster Medicine and Public Health 12*(1), 127-137. https://doi.org/10.1017dmp.2017.39
- Logan, K. E., Brunsell, N. A., Jones, A. R., & Feddema, J. J. (2010). Assessing spatiotemporal variability of drought in the U.S. central plains. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 74(2), 247-255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2009.08.008
- Lowe, K. M. (2013). Baptized with the soil: Christian agrarians and the crusade for rural community, 1910-1970. (Publication No. 10031985) [Doctoral dissertation, Pennsylvania State University]. ProQuest Dissertation and Theses Global.
- Luck, G. W., Black, R., & Race, D. (2011). Demographic changes in rural Australia: Future opportunities and challenges. *Demographic Change in Australia's Rural Landscapes*, 12, 375-384. https://doi-org.argo.library.okstate.edu/10.1007/978-90-481-9654-8_16
- Lui, Y., & Li, Y. (2017). Revitalize the world's countryside. *Nature (London)*, 548(7667), 275-277. https://doi.10.1038/548275a
- Luloff, A. E., & Swanson, L. E. (1990). American rural communities. Westview Press.
- Magis, K. (2010). "Community resilience: An indicator of social sustainability," *Society and Natural Resources*, 23(5), 401-416. https://doi.10.1080/08941920903305674
- Malanski, P. D., Dedieu, B., & Schiavi, S. (2021). Mapping the research domains on work in agriculture.
 A bibliometric review from Scopus database. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 81, 305-314.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2020.10.050

- Marrocu, E., & Paci, R. (2012). Education or creativity: What matters most for economic performance. *Economic Geography*, 88(4), 369-401. https://doi.10.111/j.1944-8287.2012.01161.x
- Marshall, A., Dezuanni, M., Burgess, J., Thomas, J., & Wilson, C. K. (2020). Australian farmers left behind in the digital economy-Insights from the Australian Digital Inclusion Index. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 80, 195-210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2020.09.001
- Marshall, M., & Samal, A. (2006). The effect of human and financial capital on entrepreneurial process: An urban-rural comparison of entrepreneurs in Indiana. *American Agricultural Economics Association Annual Meeting*. https://doi.10.22004/ag.econ.28651
- Mattos, D. (2015). Community capitals framework as a measure of community development. *Cornhusker Economics*, 811. https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/agecon_cornhusker/811/
- Mayer, A., Malin, S. A., & Olson-Hazboun, S. K. (2017). Unhollowing rural America? Rural human capital flight and the demographic consequences of the oil and gas boom. *Population Environment*, 39(3), 219-238. https://doi.10.1007/s11111-017-0288-9
- McGranahan, D. A. (1999). *Natural amenities drive rural population change*. (Vol. 781). ERS: US Department of Agriculture. https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/publications/41047/13201_aer781.pdf?v=0
- McGranahan, D., & Ghelfi, L. M. (2004, June 01). One in five rural counties depends on farming. Economic Research Service: Amber Waves. https://www.ers.usda.gov/amber-waves/2004/june/one-in-five-rural-counties-depends-on-farming
- McKnight, J. L. (1996). A 21st-century map for healthy communities and families. *Families in Society*, 78(2), 117-127. https://doi.org/10.1606/1044-3894.752

- McKnight, M. L., Sanders, S. R., Gibbs, B. G., & Brown, R. B. (2017). Communities of place? New evidence for the role of distance and population size in community attachment. *Rural Sociology*, 82(2), 291-317. https://doi.org/10.1111/ruso.12123
- McPherson, R. A., Fiebrich, C., Crawford, K. C., Elliot, R. L., Kilby, J. R., Grimsley, D. L., Martinez, J. E., Basara, J. B., Illston, B. G., Morris, D. A., Kloesel, K. A., Stadler, S. J., Melvin, A. D., Sutherland, A. J., & Shrivastava, H. (2007). Statewide monitoring of the mesoscale environment: A technical update in the Oklahoma mesonet. *Journal Atmospheric and Oceanic Technology*, 24(3), 301-321. https://doi.org/10.1175/JTECH1976.1
- Melbourne, P., & Kitchen, L. (2014). Rural mobilities: Connecting movement and fixity in rural places. *Journal of Rural Studies*, *34*, 326-336. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2014.01.004

Mesonet. (n.d.). Definition of mesonet. https://www.mesonet.org/index.php/site/about/about_the_mesonet

Mesonet. (2021). *Mesonet rainfall by month table*. https://www.mesonet.org/index.php/weather/monthly_rainfall_table

Monier, J. P. (2011). Community development in rural America: The power to exchange capital resources in Norton County, Kansas. Kansas State University. https://argo.library.okstate.edu/login?url=https://searchproquestcom.argo.library.okstate.edu/docv iew/894264760?accountid=4117

- Moore, E. (2016). Rural disenfranchisement and food access: A case study of two Oklahoma towns.
 (Publication No. 1024720). [Master's thesis, Oklahoma State University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Morrow, B. H. (1999). Identifying and mapping community vulnerability. *Disasters*, 23(1), 1-18. https: //doi.org/10.1111/1467-7717.00102

- Morton, L. W., Allen, B. L., & Li, T. (2004). Rural housing adequacy and civic structure. *Sociological Inquiry*, 74(4), 464-491. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-682X.2004.00101.x
- Moskal, M. (2014). Language and cultural capital in school experience of Polish children in Scotland. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 26(1), 141-160. https://doi.org/10.1080/13613324.2014.911167
- Mueller, D. W. (2019). In pursuit of sustainability: Local policy output and the roles of community capitals and collaborative governance (Publication No. 13811284) [Doctoral dissertation, Washington State University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Mueller, J. T. (2019). *The effect of natural resource dependence on economic prosperity in rural America* [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Penn State University.
- Mueller, J. T., & Tickamyer, A. R. (2020). Climate change beliefs and support for development: Testing a cognitive hierarchy of support for natural resource-related economic development in rural Pennsylvania. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 80, 553-566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2020.10.043
- National Agricultural Statistics Service. (2017). County Summary Highlights: 2017. United States Department of Agriculture. https://www.nass.usda.gov/Quick_Stats/CDQT/chapter/2 /table/1/state/OK/county/029/year/2017
- National Association of Counties. (2019, February). *Counties matter: stronger counties, stronger America*. NACO, 1-16. https://www.naco.org/sites/default/files/documents/CM_2019.pdf
- Nelson, K. S., Nguyen, T. D., Brownstein, N. A., Garcia, D., Walker, H. C., Watson, J. T., & Xin, A. (2021). Definitions, measures and uses of rurality: A systemic review of the empirical quantitative literature. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 82, 351-365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2021.01.035

Office of Management and Budget. (2010). 2010 Standards for delineating metropolitan and micropolitan statical areas.

https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2010-06-28/pdf/2010-15605.pdf

- Oklahoma Climatological Survey. (2021). *Mesonet rainfall totals*. https://climate.ok.gov/index.php/climate/rainfall_table/estimated
- Oklahoma Department of Transportation. (2018). *Control section maps for the state of Oklahoma*. https://www.odot.org/maps/control-section/2018/map_csect_2018-book.pdf
- Oklahoma State Election Board. (2019). Voter registration as of November 1, 2019 by county. https://oklahoma.gov/content/dam/ok/en/elections/documents/a0001/voter-registration-statisticsby-county-as-of-november-1-2019.pdf
- Oklahoma State University. (2021). *The rural renewal initiative: Rural renewal*. https://ruralrenewal.okstate.edu
- Oklahoma State University. (2021a). *The rural renewal initiative: Seed grants*. https://ruralrenewal.okstate.edu/seed-grants.html
- Parker, K., Horowitz, J. M., Brown, A., Fry, R., Cohn, D., & Igielnik, R. (2018, May 22). Urban, suburban and rural residents' views on key social and political issues. Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2018/05/22/urban-suburban-and-rural-residentsviews-on-key-social-and-political-issues/
- Petrin, R. A., Schafft, K. A., & Meece, J. L. (2014). Educational sorting and residential aspirations among rural high school students: What are the contributions of schools and educators to rural brain drain? *American Educational Research Association*, 51(2), 294-326. https://www.jstor.org/stable/24546689

- Pigg, K., Gasteyer, S. P., Martin, K. E., Keating, K., & Apaliyah, G. P. (2013). The community capital framework: An empirical examination of internal relationships. *Community Development*, 44(4). https://doi-org.argo.library.okstate.edu/10.1080/15575330.2013.814698
- Poterba, J., & Sinai T. (2008). Tax expenditures for owner-occupied housing: Deductions for property taxes and mortgage interest and the exclusion of imputed rental income. *The American Economic Review*, 98(2), 84-89. https://doi.10.1257/aer.98.2.84
- Putnam, R. D. (2000). *Bowling alone: The collapse and revival of American community*. Simon and Schuster.
- Putnam, R. (1993). Making democracy work: Traditional is modern Italy. Princeton University Press.
- QutbAldeen, M. S. (2020). *Demolition in rural Nebraska: Revitalizing Fairbury's vacant sites*. [Master's thesis, University of Nebraska-Lincoln]. Theses from the Architecture Program. https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1189&context=archthesis
- Ratcliff, M. (2010). A century of delineating a changing landscape: The census bureau's urban and rural classification, 1910 to 2010. U.S. Census: Geography Division. 1-10. https://www2.census.gov/geo/pdfs/reference/ua/Century_of_Defining_Urban.pdf
- Ratcliff, M., Burd, C., Holder, K., & Fields, A. (2016, December). Defining rural at the US Census
 Bureau: American community survey and geography brief. U.S. Census Bureau: U.S. Department
 of Commerce, Economic and Statistics Administration, 1-8.
 https://www2.census.gov/geo/pdfs/reference/ua/Defining_Rural.pdf
- Rignall, K., & Atia, M. (2017). The global rural: Relational geographies of poverty and uneven development. *Geography Compass*, *11*(7), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1111/gec3.12322

- Ringwood, L. (2017). Economic resilience and community capitals: A study in the estimation and dynamics of U.S. county economic resilience to the great recession. (Publication No. 10274990)
 [Master's These, University of Idaho]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Rohe, W. M. (2017). Tackling the housing affordability crisis. *Housing Policy Debate*, 27(3), 490-494. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511482.2017.1298214
- Rupasingha, A., Goetz, S. J., & Freshwater, D. (2006, with updates). The production of social capital in U.S. counties. *Journal of Socio-Economics*, 35, 83-101. https://doi.10.1016/j.socec.2005.11.001
- Ryser, L., Halseth, G., & Markey, S. (2020). Impact of senior government policies on the renewal of built capital for rural non-profits. *Community Development*, 51(5), 646-666. https://doi.org/10.1080/15575330.2020.1825505
- Salsgiver, J., & Hines, F. K. (1993). Profiling farming counties using employment- and income-based measures. Economic Research Service: Agriculture and Rural Economy Division, Staff Report No. 9320, 1-11. https://doi.10.22004/ag.econ.278712
- Sanders, D., Laing, J., & Frost, W. (2015). Exploring the role and importance of post-disaster events in rural communities. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 41, 82-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2015.08.001
- Sawicki, D. S., & Flynn, P. (1996). Neighborhood indicators: A review of the literature and an assessment of conceptual and methodological issues. *Journal of the American Planning Association* 62(2), 165-183. https://doi.org/10.1080/01944369608975683
- Schmidt, T. M., & Severson, R. M. (2021). Exploring the feasibility of rural broadband cooperatives in the United States: The new New Deal? *Telecommunications Policy*, 45(4), 102-114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.telpol.2021.102114

- Schultz, T. W. (1971). *Investing in people: The economics of population quality*. University of California Press.
- Sewell, S. J., Desai, S. A., Mutsaa, E., & Lottering, R. T. (2019). A comparative study of community perceptions regarding the role of roads as a poverty alleviation strategy in rural areas. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 71, 73-84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2019.09.001
- Sherman, J., & Sage, R. (2011). Sending off all your good treasures: Rural schools, brain drain, and the community survival in the wake of economic collapse. *Journal of Research in Rural Education*, 26(11), 1. https://jrre.psu.edu/sites/default/files/2019-08/26-11.pdf
- Shucksmith, M. (2018). Re-imagining the rural: From rural idyll to good countryside. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 59, 163-172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2016.07.019
- Sizemore, D. S. (2004). Ethnic inclusion and exclusion. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography*, *33*(5), 534-570. https://doi.10.1177/089124266987
- Skobba, K., Osinubi, A., & Tinsley, K. L. (2019). What about rural blight? Housing and neighborhood conditions in southeastern small towns. *Rural Sociology*, 85(1), 85-110. https://doi.org/10.1111/ruso.12269
- Smith, M. N., Winkler, R. L., & Johnson, K. M. (2016). How migration impacts America. Brief-Population Trends in Post-Recession Rural American Research Project, 3(16), 8. https://w3001.apl.wisc.edu/b03_16
- Stock, P. V., & Forney, J. (2014). Farmer autonomy and the farming self. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 36, 160-171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2014.07.004

- Stofferahn, C. W. (2009). Cooperative community development: A comparative case study of localitybased impacts of new generation cooperatives. *Community Development*, 40(2), 177-198. https://doi.org/10.1080/15575330903001679
- Suryanata, K., Mostafanezhad, M., & Milne, N. (2020). Becoming a new farmer: Agrarianism and the contradictions of diverse economies. *Rural Sociology*, 86(1), 139-164. https://doi.org/10.1111/ruso.12355
- Sweetland, S. R. (1996). Human capital theory: Foundations of a field of inquiry. *Review of Educational Research*, *66*(3), 341-359. https://doi.org/10.2307/1170527
- Tajuddin, R. M. (2011). Social capital and rural community self-development: Understanding community satisfaction and its impact on entrepreneurial climate and community outcomes. (Publication No. 3473105) [Iowa State University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Talheml, T., Zhang, X., Oishi, S., Shimin, C., Duan, D., Lan, X., & Kitayama, S. (2014). Large-scale psychological differences within china explained by rice versus wheat agriculture. *Science*, 344(6184), 603-608. https://doi.10.1126/science.1246850
- Ternes, B. (2017). Groundwater citizenship and water supply awareness: Investigating water-related infrastructure and well ownership. *Rural Sociology*, 83(2), 347-375. https://doi.org/10.1111/ruso.12179
- Theodori, G. L., & Willits, F. K. (2018). Rural and small town residents and the rural mystique: Data from Texas. *Rural Sociology*, 84(1), 168-181. https://doi.org/10.1111/ruso.12227
- Thompson, D. (2016). "Somos del Campo": Latino and Latina gardeners and farmers in two rural communities of Iowa- a community capitals framework approach. *Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development, 1*(3), 3-18. https://doi.10.5304/jafscd.2011.013.001
Tienda, M., & Mitchell, F. (2006). Multiple origins, uncertain destinies. National Academic Press.

- Tomer, A., Kneebone, E., & Sivaram, R. (2017). Signs of digital distress: Mapping broadband availability and subscription in American neighborhoods. *The Brookings Institution, Metropolitan Policy Program.* https://www.brookings.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2017/08/broadbandreport.pdf
- Turi, S. A. (2014). An economic efficiency and resiliency study of the United States counties using factor analysis and data envelopment analysis within a community capitals framework. (Publication No. 1557713)[Thesis, University of Idaho]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Tweten, M. R., (2008). Community capitals: Examining the socioeconomics of a rural community (Publication No. 33242790 [Doctoral dissertation, University of North Dakota]. ProQuest Dissertation and Theses Global.
- U.S. Census. (2010). *Census of population and housing*. U.S. Census 2010. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/tillmancountyoklahoma,harmoncountyoklahoma,US /LND110210
- U.S. Census. (2014). American community survey design and methodology (January 2014). https://www2.census.gov/programssurveys/acs/methodology/design_and_methodology/acs_desig n_methodology_report_2014.pdf
- U.S. Census. (2016). Geography area series: County business patterns by employment size class and legal form organization: 2016. Annual Economic Surveys. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=CBP2016.CB1600CBP%20Tillman%20County,%25%0920Oklahoma&g=0500000US40007, 40053,40057,40059,40063,40105,40107,40141&tid=CBP2016.CB1600CBP&hidePreview=true
- U.S. Census. (2018). Reliability of data.

https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/economic-census/year/2012/technicaldocumentation/methodology/reliability.html

- U.S. Census. (2019a). ACS demographic and housing estimates, DP05. American Community Survey. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=ACS%20DEMOGRAPHIC%20&t=Age%20and%20Sex %3APopulations%20and%20People&g=0500000US40005,40025,40029,40057,40059,40063,400 67,40105,40107,40141&tid=ACSDP5Y2019.DP05&hidePreview=true
- U.S. Census. (2019b). American community survey and Puerto Rico Community Survey 2019 subject definitions.
 https://www2.census.gov/programssurveys/acs/tech_docs/subject_definitions/2019_ACSSubject
 Definitions.pdf
- U.S. Census. (2019c). County population totals: 2010-2019.

https://www.census.gov/data/datasets/time-series/demo/popest/2010s-counties-total.html

- U.S. Census. (2019d). *Educational attainment, S1501*. American Community Survey. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=education%20attainment&g=0500000US40005,40025,400 29,40057,40059,40063,40067,40105,40107,40141&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S1501&hidePreview=tru e
- U.S. Census. (2019e). *Employment Status, S2301*. American Community Survey. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=labor%20force&g=0500000US40005,40025,40029,40057, 40059,40063,40067,40105,40107,40141&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S2301&hidePreview=true
- U.S. Census. (2019f). *Households and families*, *S1101*. American Community Survey. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=families&g=0500000US40005,40025,40029,40057,40059, 40063,40067,40105,40107,40141&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S1101&hidePreview=true
- U.S. Census. (2019g). *Language spoken at home, S1601*. American Community Survey. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?g=0500000US40005,40025,40029,40057,40059,40063,4006 7,40105,40107,40141&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S0101&hidePreview=true

U.S. Census. (2019h). *Income in the past 12 months in 2019 inflation-adjusted dollars, S1901*. American Community Survey.

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=income&g=0500000US40005,40025,40029,40057,40059, 40063,40067,40105,40107,40141&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S1901&hidePreview=true

- U.S. Census. (2019i). *Poverty status in the past 12 months, S1701*. American Community Survey. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=poverty&g=0500000US40005,40025,40029,40057,40059, 40063,40067,40105,40107,40141&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S1701&hidePreview=true
- U.S. Census. (2019j). Selected characteristics of health insurance coverage in the United States, S2701. American Community Survey. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=health%20insurance&g=0500000US40005,40025,40029,40057,40059,40063,40067,40105,40107,40141&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S2701&hidePreview=true
- U.S. Census. (2019k). *Types of computers and internet subscriptions, S2801*. American Community Survey.

https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=internet&g=0500000US40005,40025,40029,40057,40059, 40063,40067,40105,40107,40141&tid=ACSST5Y2019.S2801&hidePreview=true

U.S. Census. (2020, August 27). Subject definitions.

https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/cps/technical-documentation/subject-definitions.html

- U.S. Census. (2021). *Self-response by county*. United States Census 2020. https://public.tableau.com/views/ResponseRateChallenge/CountyDashboard?:showVizHome=no &:tabs=n&State=Oklahoma&Select%20Mode=Total&Share
- Utami, A. W., & Cramer, L. A. (2020). Political, social and human capital in the face of climate change: Case or rural Indonesia. *Community Development*, 51(5), 556-57. https://doi.org/10.1080-15575330.2020.1804956

- Van Zandt, S., Giusti, C., Jourdan, D., & Martin, J. (2009). Small-town housing needs: Resource inefficiencies and urban bias in the United States. *Community Development*, 39(3), 75-92. https://doi.org/10.1080-15575330809489670
- Viola, I., Borrelli, I. P., Misso, R., & Cesaretti, G. P. (2019). Human capital education model for community's sustainable development strategy. *Quality-Access to Success 20*(2), 650-657. https://search.proquest.com/docview/2198414814/fulltextPDF/AE48E40267646C1PQ/1?accounti d=4117
- Wakefield, S. E., & Poland, B. (2005). Family, friend or foe? Critical reflection on the relevance and role of social capital in health promotion and community development. *Social Science and Medicine*, 60(12), 2819-2832. https://doi.10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.11.012

Walzer, N. (1991). Rural community economic development. Praeger Publishers.

Ward, L. R. (1955). The American rural value pattern. *Review of Politics*, *17*(3), 377-391. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0034670500014285

Wilkinson, K. P. (1991). The community in rural America. Greenwood Press.

- Witt, J. L. (1997). National mitigation strategy: Partnerships for building a safer communities. Diana Publishing Company.
- Whitacre, B., & Strecker, R. (2007). Rural broadband success story: Panhandle telephone- progressive thinking in rural area. Oklahoma Cooperative Extensive Service, 1-4. https://hdl.handle.net/11244/49818
- Whitener, L. (2005, April 01). *Policy options for a changing rural America*. Economic Research Service: Amber Waves.

https://www.ers.usda.gov/amber-waves/2005/april/policy-options-for-a-changing-rural-america/

Whittaker, J., Handmer, J., & Mercer, D. (2012). Vulnerability to bushfire in rural Australia: A case study from East Gippsland, Victoria. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 29(2), 161-173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2011.11.002

Wold, C. L. (2007). Creating a value-added community. Northwest Area Foundation.

- Woods, M. (2003). Deconstructing rural protest: the emergence of a new social movement. *Journal of Rural Studies*, *19*(3), 309-325. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0743-0167(3)00008-1
- Wood, M. (2008). Social movements and rural politics. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 24(2), 129-137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2007.11.004
- Woolcock, M. (1998). Social capital and economic development: Toward a theoretical synthesis and policy framework. *Theory and Society*, 27(2), 151-208. https://www.jstor.org/stable/65786

Woolcock, M. (2001). The place of social capital in understanding social and economic outcomes.
Canadian Journal of Public Policy, 2(1), 11-17.
https://www.researchgate.net/profile/MichaelWoolcock/publication/269576288 The Place of S

ocial_Capital_in_Understanding_Social_and_Economic_Outcome/links/57c77f6c08ae28c01d4f8 4ee/The-Place-of-Social-Capital-in-Understanding-Social-and-Economic-Outcome.pdf

- Yarker, S., Heley, J., & Jones, L. (2020). Stewardship of the rural: Conceptualizing the experience of rural volunteering in later life. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 76, 184-192. https://doi.org/10.1016.j.jrurstud.2020.04.011
- Young, A. (2013). Inequality, the urban-rural gap, and migration. *Quality Journal of Economics*, 128(4), 1727-1785. https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qjt025
- Zaman, A. (2015). *Drought and economic resilience of Oklahoma counties* [Master's Thesis, Oklahoma State University] ShareOK. https://shareok.org/handle/11244/45331

- Zekeri, A. A. (2013). Community capital and local economic development efforts. *Professional Agricultural Workers Journal*, 1(7), 1-10. https://doi.10.22004/agecon.236728
- Zimmerman, H. T., & Weible, J. L. (2017). Learning in and about rural places: Connections and tensions between students' everyday experiences and environmental quality issues in their community. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, 12(1). https://doi.10.100/s11422-016-9757-1
- Zissi, A., Tseloni, A., Skapinakis, P., Savvidou, M., & Chiou, M. (2010). Exploring social capital in rural settlements of islander region in Greece. *Community and Applied Social Psychology*, 20(20), 125-138. https://doi.org/10.1008/casp.1024
- Zhao, J., Amertatunga, S., Lee, A., Browne, M., & Exeter, D. J. (2019). Developing a new index of rurality for exploring variations in health outcomes in Auckland and Northland. *Social Indicators Research*, 144, 955-980. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-019-02076-1

VITA

Raquel Taylor

Candidate for the Degree of

Master of Science

Thesis: APPLYING A COMMUNITY CAPITALS FRAMEWORK TO COMPARE RURAL, FARMING-DEPENDENT COUNTIES IN OKLAHOMA

Major Field: Agricultural Education

Biographical:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Agricultural Education at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in July, 2021.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Science in Agricultural Education at Utah State University, Logan, Utah in 2017.

Experience:

Graduate Teaching Assistantship Ferguson College of Agriculture at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma, June 2019 to May 2021.Agriculture Teacher at Boyd County High School, Spencer, Nebraska August, 2017 to May 2019.